
 

Town of Kittery, Maine 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery ME 03904 

Board of Assessment Review 
Meeting Agenda 
Kittery Town Hall-  
Council Chambers 
200 Rogers Road 

Kittery ME 
Wednesday, July 28, 2021 

4:00 P.M. 
 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Council Chambers- 4:00 P.M. 
 

2. ROLL CALL  

3. PUBLIC HEARING: 
         a. Appeal 1, 284 US Route 1 (Tax Map 31 Lot 6): Owner/Applicant Jonathan Shafmaster 

requests consideration of an application of appeal for real commercial property assessment.  
• Response: Assessor, Paul McKenney, CMA, CNHA and Ed Tinker, CNHA 
• Discussion: Deliberation RE: 284 US Route 1 
• Decision: Findings of Fact 

 
b. Appeal 2, 375 US Route 1 (Tax Map 47, Lot 4): Owner/Applicant F/C Kittery 
Development LLC requests consideration of an application of appeal for real commercial 
property assessment. Agent is Jonathan Block, Pierce Atwood LLP. 
 
c. Appeal 3, 318 US Route 1 (Tax Map 38, Lot 13A): Owner/Applicant F/C Kittery 
Development LLC requests consideration of an application of appeal for real commercial 
property assessment. Agent is Jonathan Block, Pierce Atwood LLP. 
 
d. Appeal 4, 294 US Route 1 (Tax Map 38, Lot 14): Owner/Applicant Ripley Road Associates 
LLC requests consideration of an application of appeal for real commercial property assessment. 
Agent is Jonathan Block, Pierce Atwood LLP. 
 
e. Appeal 5, 345 US Route 1 (Tax Map 47, Lot 1): Owner/Applicant CPG Kittery Holdings 
LLC requests consideration of an application of appeal for real commercial property assessment. 
Agent is Jonathan Block, Pierce Atwood LLP. 
 
f. Appeal 6, 325 US Route 1 (Tax Map 38, Lot 7): Owner/Applicant CPG Finance II LLC 
requests consideration of an application of appeal for real commercial property assessment. 
Agent is Jonathan Block, Pierce Atwood LLP. 

• Response: Assessor, Paul McKenney, CMA, CNHA and Ed Tinker, CNHA 
• Discussion: Deliberation RE: 375 US Route 1, 318 US Route 1, 294 US Route 1, 345 US 

Route 1, and 325 US Route 1 
• Decision: Findings of Fact, Appeals 2-6 

 



 
 

4. OTHER BUSINESS: Approval of Minutes: June 23, 2021 

5. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Please direct questions or comments about this hearing to the Kittery Assessing Department at 
207-475-1306 or assessing@kitteryme.org. 

mailto:assessing@kitteryme.org


 
 
 

{P1910109.1} ONE CANAL PLAZA, PO BOX 426 
PORTLAND, ME 04112-0426 
PHONE 207.774.2635●FAX 207.871.8026 
www.perkinsthompson.com 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  The Town of Kittery Board of Assessment Review  
 
FROM: James N. Katsiaficas, Emily A. Arvizu 
 
DATE: July 20, 2021 

 
RE: Grounds for Abatement under Maine Law 
              
 
 

To assist in the Board’s review of the abatement appeals before it, this memorandum 

provides an overview of the three grounds for granting a property tax abatement under Maine 

law and the tests developed by the courts for demonstrating each. This memorandum also 

provides an overview of the three assessment methods used in Maine, focusing primarily on the 

Income Approach.  

I. Three Grounds for Property Tax Abatement under Maine Law 

 To begin, “a town’s tax assessment is presumed to be valid.” Petrin v. Town of 

Scarborough, 2016 ME 136, ¶ 14, 147 A.3d 842 (quoting Ram’s Head Partners, LLC v. Town of 

Cape Elizabeth, 2003 ME 131, ¶ 9, 834 A.2d 916). To rebut the presumption, the taxpayer must 

“prov[e] that the assessed value of the property is manifestly wrong”. Id. The taxpayer may 

demonstrate this in one of three ways: “(1) that the property was substantially overvalued and an 

injustice resulted from the overvaluation; (2) that there was unjust discrimination in the valuation 

of the property; or (3) that the assessment was fraudulent, dishonest, or illegal.” Id. (quoting 

Terfloth v. Town of Scarborough, 2014 ME 57, ¶ 12, 90 A.3d 1131).  

A. Overvaluation 



{P1910109.1}  PERKINS THOMPSON
 PAGE 2 

The first ground for abatement is overvaluation. This arises out of the requirement in 

Article IX, section 8 of the Maine Constitution that “[a]ll taxes upon real and personal estate,  

assessed by authority of this State, shall be apportioned and assessed equally according to the 

just value thereof.” Me. Const. art. IX, § 8 (emphasis added). To satisfy this constitutional 

requirement, a valuation must be both “fair (nondiscriminatory) and just (in line with the fair 

market value of the property).” Yusem v. Town of Raymond, 2001 ME 61, ¶ 13, 769 A.2d 865 

(internal quotation marks omitted).  

For a taxpayer to prevail on an overvaluation claim, the taxpayer must prove that the 

assessment was “manifestly wrong” by showing that “the property was substantially overvalued 

and an injustice resulted from the overvaluation.” Roque Island Gardner Homestead 

Corporation v. Town of Jonesport, 2021 ME 21, ¶ 12, 248 A.3d 953 (quotation marks omitted) 

(hereinafter “Roque II”). To satisfy this initial burden, the taxpayer “must demonstrate that the 

judgment of the assessor was irrational or unreasonable in light of the circumstances”, id., and 

must present “credible, affirmative evidence of just value”, Town of Southwest Harbor v. 

Harwood, 2000 ME 213, ¶ 9, 763 A.2d 115. “Impeachment of the assessor’s methodology alone 

is insufficient to meet that burden.” Roque II, 2021 ME 21, ¶ 12, 248 A.3d 953 (quotation marks 

omitted). Once the taxpayer has satisfied its burden, the assessor “must engage in an independent 

determination of fair market value based on a consideration of all relevant evidence of just 

value.” Id. ¶ 22 (quotation marks omitted).1  

 
1 “Assessors in determining just value are to define this term in a manner that recognizes only that value arising 
from presently possible land use alternatives to which the particular parcel of land being valued may be put.” 36 
M.R.S. § 701-A. To determine “just value”, “assessors must consider all relevant factors, including without 
limitation the effect upon value of any enforceable restrictions to which the use of the land may be subjected 
including the effect on value of designation of land as significant wildlife habitat . . . , current use, physical 
depreciation, sales in the secondary market, functional obsolescence and economic obsolescence.”. Id.  However, 
“the statutory mandate that certain factors be considered does not equate to a mandate that each factor be applied to 
each property.” Yusem v. Town of Raymond, 2001 Me 61, ¶ 11, 769 A.2d 865. “Market value” is defined as “the 



{P1910109.1}  PERKINS THOMPSON
 PAGE 3 

Two parties are competent to offer evidence of fair market value for a property – a 

certified real estate appraiser2 and the property owner3; however, the property owner’s own 

opinion of value may not be credible. See City of Waterville v. Waterville Homes, Inc., 665 A.2d 

365, 366 (Me. 1995) (finding that a taxpayer’s unsupported opinion of the value of the property, 

based on a purchase price from a transaction that was not at arms-length, is insufficient evidence 

to satisfy the taxpayer’s burden). Additionally, Maine law provides a defense of the assessment if 

“it is accurate within reasonable limits of practicality,” meaning within 10% of the assessment 

ratio used within the municipality or the primary assessing area. 36 M.R.S. § 848-A. 

 In summary, a claim of overvaluation requires a showing that the property’s assessed 

value is “manifestly wrong” as compared with the just value of the property and supported by 

credible evidence of that value, and that this overvaluation resulted in an injustice to the 

taxpayer.  

B. Unjust Discrimination 

 The second ground for an abatement is unjust discrimination. As with overvaluation, the 

foundation of the claim for unjust discrimination comes from the Maine Constitution, which 

requires that (1) “each property is assessed at ‘just value,’ which is equivalent to ‘[fair] market 

value’”4 and (2) “the tax burden is ‘apportioned and assessed equally’ in order to prevent unjust 

discrimination between or among taxpayers.” Petrin v. Town of Scarborough, 2016 ME 136, ¶ 

15, 147 A.3d 842.  

 
price a willing buyer would pay a willing seller at a fair public sale.” Angell Family 2012 Prouts Neck Trust v. Town 
of Scarborough, 2016 ME 152, ¶ 29, 149 A.3d 271 (quotation marks omitted). 
2 Williams v. Ubaldo, 670 A.2d 913, 917 (Me. 1996).  
3 Garland v. Roy, 2009 ME 86, ¶ 21, 976 A.2d 940.  
4 Unjust discrimination will only be found where the total assessed value, representing the fair market value, is 
inconsistent with similarly situated properties. Roberts v. Town of Southwest Harbor, 2004 ME 132, ¶¶ 3-4, 861 
A.2d 617.  



{P1910109.1}  PERKINS THOMPSON
 PAGE 4 

Unjust discrimination occurs where two similarly situated properties do not receive 

roughly equal tax treatment “and is typically demonstrated through evidence of a practice that 

amounts to intentional underassessment or overassessment of one set of like properties.” Roque 

Island Gardner Homestead Corp. v. Town of Jonesport, 2017 ME 152, ¶ 15, 167 A.3d 564 

(internal quotations omitted) (hereinafter “Roque I’). Municipalities may “create various classes 

of property and impose different tax burdens on those respective classes” provided that such 

classes and burdens are reasonable. Petrin, 2016 ME 136, ¶ 24, 147 A.3d 842; see also Town of 

Bristol Taxpayers' Ass'n, 2008 ME 159, ¶ 12, 957 A.2d 977 (“[B]ecause there is no dispute that 

parcels in the Town were assessed consistently with other parcels in the same class, the 

Taxpayers have failed to make out a basic claim of unjust discrimination.”).  These classes must 

be based on either the character of the properties or on policy. Petrin, 2016 ME 136, ¶ 24, 147 

A.3d 842.  

To succeed on an unjust discrimination claim, the taxpayer bears the burden of proving 

that the “assessor’s system necessarily results in unequal apportionment.” Petrin, 2016 ME 136, 

¶ 16, 147 A.3d 842 (internal quotation marks omitted). The taxpayer “may present evidence that 

parcels owned by other taxpayers are assessed at drastically lower valuations; that there are no 

distinctions between the two sets of properties that justify the disparity; and that any rationale 

offered by the Town for the lower valuations is unfounded or arbitrary.” Roque I, 2017 ME 152, 

¶ 14, 167 A.3d 564 (quotations omitted).5 Unjustly discriminatory valuation methods may be 

intentional and systematic, but they may also be found in a pattern of arbitrary reductions or 

increases. See Ram’s Head Partners, LLC v. Town of Cape Elizabeth, 2003 ME 131, ¶ 13, 834 

 
5 For example, the Town of Scarborough’s valuation methodology was held unjustly discriminatory because “the 
assessor intentionally and systematically discount[ed] the assessed value of abutting lots in common ownership for 
the sole reason that there is a common boundary between the two.” Petrin, 2016 ME 136, ¶ 26, 147 A.3d 842. 



{P1910109.1}  PERKINS THOMPSON
 PAGE 5 

A.2d 916; see also City of Biddeford v. Adams, 1999 ME 49, 727 A.2d 346 (holding that a 12.5% 

reduction in the valuations of properties in one neighborhood but not of properties in another 

similar neighborhood was unjust discrimination when the reduction was based on the assessor’s 

“gut feeling”).  

C. Fraudulent, Dishonest, or Illegal 

 “An illegal assessment is generally understood as one that exceeds the bounds of the 

taxing entity's authority.” Yusem v. Town of Raymond, 2001 ME 61, ¶ 14 n.12, 769 A.2d 865. 

“An illegality occurs when there is an ‘impropriety in the manner in which the property was 

assessed,’ such as when tax-exempt property is assessed taxes, but not when the assessor has 

made errors in value calculation.” UAH-Hydro Kennebec, L.P. v. Town of Winslow, 2007 ME 36, 

¶ 18, 921 A.2d 146 (quoting Goldstein v. Town of Georgetown, 1998 ME 261, ¶ 8, 721 A.2d 

180, 182). For example, an illegality occurs when an assessor determines the value of the 

property based in part on its status as shorefront property when the property is not in fact 

shorefront. See Chase v. Town of Machiasport, 1998 ME 260, 721 A.2d 636. A tax assessment of 

an inhabitant of another town is also illegal. Herriman v. Stowers, 43 Me. 497 (1857). But a mere 

impeachment of a tax assessor’s methodology, absent affirmative evidence that the assessment is 

manifestly wrong, is insufficient grounds for an abatement. Yusem v. Town of Raymond, 2001 

ME 61, ¶ 14, 769 A.2d 865.  

D. Summary 

To qualify for an abatement, the taxpayer must be able to demonstrate that the assessed 

value of the property is manifestly wrong on one of three bases: overvaluation, unjust 

discrimination, or illegality. Through case law, the courts have developed clear tests for each 

claim. Where overvaluation analysis centers on whether the individual property was assessed at 



{P1910109.1}  PERKINS THOMPSON
 PAGE 6 

just value, the inquiry in unjust discrimination claims centers on whether the tax burden was 

imposed in a proportionate and equal manner among and between classes of properties. Illegality 

occurs when the taxing body has exceeded the bounds of its authority and imposed a tax where it 

is not authorized to do so. Under all three tests, the municipality enjoys the presumption that its 

assessment is valid and the taxpayer bears the burden of rebutting that presumption. The court 

will not find that an assessment is manifestly wrong without an affirmative evidentiary showing 

by the taxpayer.   

II. Assessment Methods 

 In Maine, assessors use three methods to find the “just value” of a property: (1) the Sales 

Comparison Approach; (2) the Cost Approach; and (3) the Income Approach. Maine courts 

“ha[ve] permitted the local assessors considerable leeway in choosing the method or 

combinations of methods to achieve just valuations.” Shawmut Inn v. Inhabitants of Town of 

Kennebunkport, 428 A.2d 384, 390 (Me. 1981). Additionally, municipalities are not required to 

use the same appraisal method for all properties. South Portland Associates v. City of South 

Portland, 550 A.2d 363, 369 (Me. 1988). However, an assessor must give due consideration to 

all three methods in finding “just value.” While all three methods may not be appropriate for 

every valuation, an assessor cannot simply choose an approach and disregard other approaches 

when they are appropriate. Instead, an assessor may choose one method as a starting point but 

then must use other appropriate methods as checks to test the reasonableness of the valuation. Id. 

at 367.  

The Sales Comparison Approach “use[s] sale prices of similar properties as evidence of 

value” and “reflects the actions and reactions of typical buyers and sellers in the marketplace, 

assuming in similar market conditions a similar property would sell for a similar price, 



{P1910109.1}  PERKINS THOMPSON
 PAGE 7 

illustrating principles of supply and demand.”6 The Cost Approach bases the value of the 

property on the amount it would cost to replace the property and “is based on the concept that the 

likely value of an existing property equates to underlying land value plus the replacement cost of 

the depreciated improvements.” Lastly, the Income Approach “derives a value by analyzing and 

determining an income flow from the market, and then capitalizing this stream of income into a 

value.” It is typically used for commercial properties.  This memorandum focuses on the income 

approach.  

 Under the Income Approach, the assessor “estimate[s] the potential gross market income 

for the property at its highest and best use, [and] subtract[s] all appropriate expenses to derive the 

net operating income (NOI).” “Highest and best use” means “the legally allowable use that will 

generate the highest return to the property over time” and is determined by considering four 

criteria: whether the use is (1) physically possible and probable; (2) legally permissible; (3) 

financially feasible; and (4) most productive.7  

While the Income Approach may be complex in execution, at its most basic level it 

measures the value of the property based on its income earning potential by looking to the net 

income of the property and the capitalization rate needed for a return on investment.  

The equation used for the Income Approach is “Income = Rate x Value” where “Income 

= the estimated income generated by the property;” “Rate = the capitalization rate, or the rate of 

return for income producing property;” and “Value = the current market value of the property.”8  

 
6 Unless otherwise specified, the information in this section is drawn from the Kittery, Maine Revaluation Manual 
2020, available at: 
https://www.kitteryme.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif3316/f/uploads/kittery_uspap_manual_11.19.20_complete_1.pdf.  
7 Introduction to Property Tax Assessment, Maine Revenue Services p. 32 (June 2020), 
https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-files/pt101_text.pdf.  
8 Introduction to Property Tax Assessment, Maine Revenue Services p. 37 (June 2020), 
https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-files/pt101_text.pdf. 



{P1910109.1}  PERKINS THOMPSON
 PAGE 8 

To determine income, an assessor starts with an estimate of the potential gross income by 

considering the local rental market, rental history, the tenant market and the demand for space.9 

Then the assessor adds to that a number for “miscellaneous income” which is any income 

generated from anything other than rent.10 Once those have been added together, the assessor 

subtracts an estimate of vacancy and collection loss and operating expenses, including fixed 

costs (costs that do not change with occupancy), variable costs (e.g. heat, electricity, etc.), and 

replacement reserves.11 The final result is the net operating income.  

To calculate the capitalization rate, an assessor will add together the interest rate, the 

effective tax rate, and the recapture rate. More specifically, for land, the capitalization rate 

typically consists of just the interest rate plus the effective tax rate because there is usually no 

recapture rate since land typically does not depreciate over time. For developed property, the 

capitalization rate consists of three components: (1) the discount rate, which is the mortgage 

interest rate (return on borrowed funds) and the equity yield rate (return on investor’s equity); (2) 

the recapture rate, which “is the annual rate at which an investment is returned over the 

economic life of property” and only applies to improvements that lose value over time; and (3) 

the effective tax rate, which is “calculated by multiplying the municipal property tax (mill) rate 

by that municipality’s declared ratio”, e.g. 90% of market value.12  

 
9 Valuation of Real Estate, Maine Revenue Services p. 98 (May 2020), 
https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-files/pt103_text.pdf. 
10 Valuation of Real Estate, Maine Revenue Services p. 98 (May 2020), 
https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-files/pt103_text.pdf. 
11 Valuation of Real Estate, Maine Revenue Services p. 98 (May 2020), 
https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-files/pt103_text.pdf.. 
12 Valuation of Real Estate, Maine Revenue Services p. 102 (May 2020), 
https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-files/pt103_text.pdf.  



{P1910109.1}  PERKINS THOMPSON
 PAGE 9 

Lastly, the value is calculated by dividing the net operating income by the capitalization 

rate. Additionally, if the valuation sought is for both land and buildings, the assessor will 

typically make the above calculations for the land and buildings separately.13  

The Supreme Judicial Court of Maine has recognized that the income method poses some 

inherent problems to using the income method: “the ability of the landlord to ‘manipulate’ 

receipt and expense levels and the instability that the income method might tend to impose on 

municipal revenues.” South Portland Associates v. City of South Portland, 550 A.2d 363, 368 

(Me. 1988). To counteract these issues, the Court recommends that “[w]hen assessors employ 

income analysis they can and should use income and expense figures and capitalization 

techniques that take into account expected net income for a significant period of time.” Id.    

 
 

 
13 Valuation of Real Estate, Maine Revenue Services p. 101 (May 2020), 
https://www.maine.gov/revenue/sites/maine.gov.revenue/files/inline-files/pt103_text.pdf. 

















ABATEMENT APPEAL TO BOARD OF ASSESSMENT REVIEW 

TOWN OF KITTERY - RESPONSE BY THE ASSESSOR 

 

 

Date of Hearing:   July 28, 2021 

 

 

Owner Name:    JONATHAN S. SHAFMASTER 

Property Address:    284 US Route 1  Map-Lot: 31-6  

Preliminary Assessment:   $5,667,800 

FY2020-21 Assessment:   $5,280,200 

Abated Assessment:   $4,708,700 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

 

TOWN’S RESPONSE TO 2020 TAX ABATEMENT AND APPEAL  

      

DEVELOPMENT OF VALUES AND VALUATION PROCEDURES  

  

FINAL REVALUATION SUMMARY  

       

PROPERTY CARD   

        

QUALIFICATIONS OF THE ASSESSOR & ASSESSING STAFF   



Town’s Response to 2020 Tax Year Abatement & Appeal: 

 

Maine Gate Outlet / 284 US Route 1: 

  Map & Lot                   Address                  2019 Assessment            2020 Assessment       % Change 

      31-6                      284 US Route 1              $5,188,100                      $4,708,700             (9.24%) 
 
2019 tax burden: $90,272.94 ($5,188,100 x 0.01740) 
2020 tax burden: $60,742.23 ($4,708,700 x 0.01290) 
 
2020 reduction in total taxes due: $29,531 or (32.71%) 
The Maine Gate Outlet consists of 3 tenants:  
 

1. Eddie Bauer 
2. Orvis 
3. Barbour 

 
The Town of Kittery completed a town wide revaluation in 2020, the last revaluation was completed in 
2013. 

The 2020 assessments are based on the property’s indicated fair market value as of April 1, 2020. 

The valuation opinion relied on the three approaches to value:  

1. Cost approach  
2. Income approach  
3. Sales comparison approach 

Mass appraisal utilizes all 3 approaches in developing assessments, when applicable.    

Assessments are relative to a single date in time, for Kittery this date is April 1, 2020, and follows the 
assessment year which begins on April 1 and ends on March 31st.  

Therefore, in completing the 2020 valuation update it represents assessments as of an effective date of 
April 1, 2020, and therefore represents the property as of that date in time.  

Additionally, any changes both physically and economically that took place after April 1, 2020, would not 
be considered due to the effective date of the assessments/appraisal report. 

These are the reasons that income and expense data is analyzed for a multi-year period prior to the 
effective date. 

As part of the 2020 revaluation, we developed market driven data resulting from a review of data 
relative to rental rates, income and expense data, vacancy rates and market driven capitalization rates 
for individual type properties, in the case of the subject properties that would be retail cap rates.  

 



In completing the 2020 revaluation the Town sent out formal requests for 2019 Income and expense  
data, however in the case of Maine Gate Outlet, we did not receive any of the requested financial data 
at that time. 
 
Once preliminary valuations were set, notices of the 2020 valuations were sent to the property owner. 
 
An abatement application was submitted on March 1, 2021, and as part of that review process we were 
able to request and receive a multi-year tenant sales breakdown and copies of the 3 existing leases.  
 
In reviewing the submitted leases we were able to determine each tenant’s rental terms for the time 
period leading up to the 2020 assessment (April 1, 2020) 
 
The following represents each tenant’s base rent reflective for the 2019 tax year.    
 

1. Eddie Bauer  
Main Floor = 8,825 SF @ $40.95 per square foot or $361,383.75  

               Basement = 1,550 Sf @ $6.60 per square foot or $10,230.00 
 

2. Orvis = 10% of gross sales which in 2019 = $119,978.45 
 

3. Barbour = 10% of gross sales which in 2019 = $95,333.75 
 
The existing 2019 lease terms represent a gross rental income for 2019 of $586,925.95. 
 
Additional pass-through income is derived from common area maintenance fees and prorated tax 
payments.  
 
Utilizing the owners reported pass through income and common area expenses seems reasonable. 
However, we believe the cap rate estimated by the owner at 11% is artificially high for the 2020 tax 
year.   
 
In our analysis which included a review of actual income and expense data as well as market derived 
data, the retail cap rate for 2019 was estimated at 8.93%; in quarter 1 of 2020 it was estimated at 
9.22%. 

If we were to then use an estimated cap rate of 9.40 which would include the company’s portion of the 
tax burden estimated at (.32), the estimated value opinion would be more in line with the revised 2020 
assessment.  

 

 

 

 



Therefore, the Town believes the 2020 assessment is correct, fair and equitable based on the 
following: 

 

1. The existing lease terms for the property support the 2020 assessment. 
 

2. The existing lease terms (Second amendment to the lease) should be the basis for the 2020 
assessment.  
 

3. The second addendum of the Eddie Bauer lease outlines the terms and should be the primary 
basis for the valuation as of April 1, 2020. 

 
4. The Third amendment to the Eddie Bauer lease was not effective until April 1, 2020 and was 

added to address the effects of store closures due to the pandemic.  
 

5. Therefore, The Town believes the 2020 assessment reflects the property’s fair market value as 
of April 1, 2020.    

 



 

 18 

 

 

 

 

SECTION 3 

Development of Values and Valuation Procedures 



 

 19 

Description of Basic Valuation Theory and Mass Appraisal 

Identify Property 

The appraiser’s first task is to identify what property is being appraised.  This includes physical 

aspects of the property and property rights. 

There are six basic property rights associated with the private ownership of property, these 

include:  1) the right to use, 2) the right to sell, 3) the right to lease or rent, 4) the right to enter 

or leave the property, 5) the right to give away, and 6) the right to refuse to do any of these.  

These, and other rights, are known as the full “bundle of rights,” which is understood to be 

attached to an ownership with “fee simple” title which has been described in the preceding 

section. 

Determine Highest and Best Use 

The next step is to identify the highest and best use of the property.  Refer to the preceding 

discussion, as well as the preceding section “Identification of Assumptions and Limiting, 

Hypothetical and Extraordinary Conditions” for more information on highest and best use. 

Once the highest and best use has been determined, the appraiser begins the process of data 

collection, studies the market and accompanying economic forces (such as supply and demand) 

pertaining to highest and best use, and assembles the relevant data and statistics for 

incorporation into the analysis. 

Collect and Analyze Data 

Strategies for data collection will vary with the type of data being sought and may not be the same 

for every property use. Overall, the comparative data, which may include descriptions and/or 

confirmations of the property’s physical attributes, cost, income and expense, and details of sale 

or transfer information are collected, if applicable.  

At this point, neighborhood boundaries can be established to “stratify” the properties and the 

property-specific information collected in the field. As a result, statistical information pertaining 

to the market/economic forces that impact an area can be defined by set boundaries in a 

meaningful and cohesive way. 

This market-derived information, such as sale information, improvement costs, and depreciation, 

is then entered into the Municipality’s CAMA (Computer Assisted Mass Appraisal) system, and 



 

 20 

forms the basis for the database “tables” that enable the CAMA system to generate specific 

property values. 

Data Calibration Methods and Approaches to Value 

There are primarily three approaches or analytical techniques utilized to develop an opinion of 

value, and these techniques are incorporated into the CAMA system. Below is a description of 

each technique descriptions of situations where the approach would be best used. Typically, more 

than one technique is used. The most applicable approach will be given the most weight in the 

reconciliation stage. Techniques are reconciled during analysis. 

Cost Approach Methodology:  The “Cost Approach” is based on a comparison of the subject 

property to the cost to produce a new subject property or a substitute property. This concept is called 

the “principle of substitution.” 

The Cost Approach is based on the concept that the likely value of an existing property equates 

to underlying land value plus the replacement cost of the depreciated improvements.  Typically, 

a Cost Approach would not be utilized for an appraisal of vacant land.  The replacement cost of 

any improvements is typically derived from published cost tables, or derived directly from 

localized information, and should be updated as required by market conditions.  Items considered 

in this estimate are the age, condition, and utility of the property.  

Importantly, the assessor typically evaluates existing improvements based on utility and function, 

rather than attempting to duplicate or exactly reproduce the assessed property. The Cost 

Approach can be used for commercial and residential property. 

Cost Approach Modeling: In applying the Cost Approach, the appraiser, or assessor, will first 

value the land of the subject based on comparable land sales, sales land residuals or income 

land residuals.  Second, the appraiser will estimate the cost to construct the existing structure, 

along with any site improvements. Once the cost of the building is developed, depreciation from 

normal wear and tear and from functional and economic obsolescence is deducted. The 

remaining value is considered the Replacement Cost Less Depreciation (RCLD).    

Sales Comparison Approach Methodology: The “Sales Comparison Approach” is based on the 

premise that the appraiser can use sale prices of similar properties as evidence of value. In other 

words, the Sales Comparison Approach reflects the actions and reactions of typical buyers and sellers 

in the marketplace, assuming in similar market conditions a similar property would sell for a similar 



 

 21 

price, illustrating principles of supply and demand.  During the process, the appraiser compares a 

subject property to other comparable properties sold within the analysis period and adjusting the 

sale prices of comparable properties to compensate for differences. The differences are weighed 

through value indications developed to arrive at an opinion of market value for the subject property. 

As no two properties are ever exactly alike, and market conditions can change, a systematic series 

of adjustments are made to the sale property to bring it into conformity with the appraised 

property. A comparative analysis process is completed to determine and define similarities and 

differences of properties and transactions that can affect value. These elements may include 

property rights appraised, financing terms, market conditions, size, location, and physical features. 

The Sales Comparison Approach can be used for commercial, residential, and vacant land types 

of property. 

Sales Comparison Approach Modeling:  In the context of mass appraisal performed for 

assessment purposes, the appraised property begins with a generic property description that is 

utilized to establish a “baseline” for comparing similar properties. For instance, the recent sale of 

a single-family residential ranch-style home, approximating 2,000 square feet, three-bedrooms, 

two-baths, and of average quality construction and condition, could be compared to other 

similarly situated single-family ranch-style homes. The sales are compared and adjusted to isolate 

the various market factors and baseline parameters that are then applied to the specific 

properties being assessed. Like the Cost Approach, the Sales Comparison Approach is based upon 

the principle of substitution, but it assumes that when several similar properties are available, 

instead of individual improvements for one property, the property with the lowest price will 

attract the greatest demand.                                      

Income Approach Methodology: The “Income Approach” is based upon the “principle of 

anticipation” which recognizes that value is created by the owner’s expectation of future benefits.  

Typically, these benefits are anticipated in the form of income, and/or in the anticipated increase 

in the property’s value over time. The approach is based on set of procedures which derives a value 

by analyzing and determining an income flow from the market, and then capitalizing this stream of 

income into a value. Generally, the Income Approach is used for commercial properties. 

Income Approach Modeling:  The Income Approach technique requires that the appraiser 

estimate the potential gross market income for the property at its highest and best use, subtract 

all appropriate expenses to derive the net operating income (NOI).  



 

 22 

Market Rent Analysis:  The first step in analyzing properties income potential is to establish 

market rent for land and improvements.  Market rent is the rental income that a property would 

most probably command in an open market.  Market rent is applicable when the property rights 

appraised are fee simple.  To estimate the property's market rent, rental data from comparable 

properties are required to be gathered and analyzed. 

The net operating income is then divided by a “capitalization rate” (Ro) or the market-derived rate 

investors would expect on alternative investments that share the same degree of risk as the 

appraised property. Capitalization is the process of converting a net income stream into an 

indication of value.  The selection of a capitalization rate (Ro) can be developed by several 

methods including the Direct Capitalization Method and Band of Investment Technique. 

Direct Capitalization Method:  Direct Capitalization is a method used to convert an estimate of 

a single year’s income expectancy into an indication of value in one direct step, either by dividing 

the income estimate by an appropriate rate or by multiplying the income estimate by an 

appropriate factor.  Extraction of a capitalization rate (Ro) from market surveys and by the band 

of investment technique are the most accepted methods.  They will be utilized to determine a 

direct capitalization rate for each commercial property type. Another method to develop a 

capitalization rate is through extracting it from comparable sales.   

Band of Investment Technique:  This is a technique in which the capitalization rates attributable 

components of a capital investment are weighted and combined to derive a weighted average 

rate that is attributable to the total investment.  The two components are the mortgage position 

and the equity position.  The variables considered are the mortgage interest rate, amortization 

period, holding period, loan to value ratio and the equity yield rate.   

Once the capitalization rate is developed the NOI is divided by this rate to determine a value by 

the income approach. 

A simplified income approach is structured as follows: 

Annual Potential Gross Income  

                     5 apartments @ $1,000/month = $60,000  

Annual Vacancy Rate = 5% annually = ($3,000) 

Annual Effective Gross Income =  $57,000 

Annual Expenses =  ($23,000) 



 

 23 

Net Operating Income =  $34,000 

Capitalization Rate = 10% 

Property Value = $34,000 / 10% = $340,000 

Summary of Approaches to Value 

Utilizing all three of the preceding independent approaches to value is preferable, since each 

independent approach provides a useful “test of reasonableness,” and more such tests are 

preferable to fewer such tests.  However, it is not always possible to complete a specific approach 

due to the unavailability of meaningful data.   

At the end of analysis, the different values reached by independent techniques are reconciled by 

evaluating both the quality of the information utilized in each approach, and a final opinion of 

value is selected. 

In Kittery, all approaches were considered and utilized. There is a summary of approaches to value 

used in Kittery at the end of this section. 

Overview of Mass Appraisal 

Mass appraisal utilizes many of the same concepts outlined above.  However, due to the necessity 

to attach values to multiple properties, as opposed to a single property, mass appraisal 

emphasizes data management, statistical valuation models, and statistical quality control.  As a 

result, the use of an automated valuation model (AVM), also referred to as Computer Assisted 

Mass Appraisal (CAMA), software is required.  The CAMA or AVM is a mathematically based 

computer software program that produces an estimate of market value based on market analysis 

of location, market conditions, and real estate characteristics from information that was 

previously and separately collected.  The distinguishing feature of CAMA or AVM software is that 

it is a market appraisal produced through mathematical modeling. Importantly, as in most if not 

all data processing systems, the credibility of the results is highly correlated with the quality of 

the input data utilized, and the skills of the assessor or analyst utilizing the CAMA or AVM 

software. 

 Therefore, a mass appraisal system generally relies upon four primary subsystems that include: 

1) a data management system, 2) a sales analysis system, 3) a valuation system, and 4) an 

administration system. Each subsystem is briefly described below: 



 

 24 

The “Data Management” system is the core of the mass appraisal system and should be carefully 

designed and implemented.  Fundamentally, the data management system is responsible for the 

data entry and subsequent editing, as well as the organization, storage, and security oversight of 

the data.  Essential to the data management system is quality control, as the reliability of the data 

will have a direct and profound impact on the quality of the resulting output and values. 

The “Sales Analysis” subsystem is responsible for the collection of sale data, sale screening, 

various statistical studies and sales reporting.  The following statistical techniques are utilized to 

calibrate and fine-tune the data assumptions: 

 Ratio:  refers to the relationship between the appraised or assessed values and market 

values as determined by a review of sales.  The ratio studies, which are the primary product of 

this function, typically provide the most meaningful measures of appraisal performance and 

provide the basis for establishing corrective actions (re-appraisals), adjusting valuations to the 

market, and planning and scheduling administration.  The requirement is to maintain a Median 

Ratio between 90% and 110% of market value. A ratio of 100% is preferred, indicating the 

assessed value is identical to the market value. 

 COD: or Coefficient of Dispersion, is another important statistical tool utilized in mass 

appraisal and refers to the average percentage deviation from the median ratio.  As a measure of 

central tendency, the COD represents the degree to which the data being analyzed clusters 

around a central data point, such as the median ratio.  The requirement is a COD no greater than 

20%. A lower COD is preferable to a higher COD. 

 PRD: or Price-Related Differential, is calculated by dividing the mean by the weighted 

mean.  A PRD greater than 1.03 indicates assessment regressivity. Regressivity is when high-value 

properties are assessed lower or disproportionate to, than low value properties.  A PRD lower 

than 0.98 indicates assessment progressivity (when high-value properties are assessed higher, or 

disproportionate to, low-value properties.  The requirement is a PRD no greater than 1.03, and 

no lower than 0.98.  Overall, a PRD equal to 1.0 is preferred. 

The “Valuation System” generally comprises the statistical application of the three approaches to 

value which are identified in the preceding section.  For instance, utilization of the Sales 

Comparison Approach includes a statistical analysis of current market sales data. The Cost 

Approach utilizes computerized cost and depreciation tables and reconciles these computerized 

cost-generated values with market-derived sales information. The Income Approach utilizes 



 

 25 

computer-generated income multipliers and overall capitalization rates.  The Valuation System is 

also utilized to extract adjustments and/or factors that are utilized in the development of values. 

The “Administrative System” includes such core, often automated, functions as development of 

the property record cards and assessment roll or property tax base, the preparation of the tax 

notices, and retention of the appeals and other miscellaneous property files. 

Period of Time Associated with Sales/Data Collection:   

Sale data utilized for the purpose of completing this analysis spanned a two-year period from April 

1, 2018 to March 31, 2020.  Only sales confirmed to be qualified “arms-length,” or market-

oriented transactions, were utilized in the analysis. 

Data Collection and Sales Verification Procedures:   

The County Registry of Deeds provides the Municipality’s Assessing Department with copies of all 

recorded property transfers within 30 days of the date of transfer. Each individual sale was 

analyzed by the Municipality’s assessing staff to determine if the transfer was a qualified sale; i.e., 

arm’s-length and market oriented.  The qualification procedure required either a direct interview 

with the buyer, seller, or broker/representative familiar with the circumstances surrounding the 

negotiated transfer of the property or was verified through Real Estate Transfer Tax Declaration 

(RETTD) forms.  Upon final qualification, an attempt was made to inspect the property and the 

property record cards were updated. As previously mentioned, due to the safety concerns 

revolving around the COVID-19 outbreak mid-March 2020, sale properties not visited received an 

exterior inspection and property owners, when applicable, were asked to complete a 

questionnaire about the sale and interior physical attributes of the property. 

Description of Qualified Sales and Sales Analysis Process: 

The sale data was verified for accuracy by submitting each sale properties thorough physical 

measure and list, including interior inspection whenever possible, and market analysis. The sale 

review process confirms a transaction, or sale, was arm’s length with no unusual circumstances 

that might have influenced the negotiated sale price. This review process exposed unqualified 

sales and established the qualified sales available to conduct the analysis. Once sales were 

verified, and the preliminary benchmarks established, field reviews were conducted to refine the 

base tables and verify the alignment of properties and the tables by “use type” and location, for 

example.  The preliminary values were further validated by the statistical testing of the sale data 



 

 26 

made possible by the CAMA software system. The CAMA software groups and sorts the data by 

various elements of consideration such as:  improvement type, age, size, and neighborhood, and 

various ratios are developed that reveal discrepancies in the underlying valuation model. 

Significance of Adjustments and Factors: 

“Adjustments” and “factors” are mathematical changes to basic data (for example data in a base 

table) to facilitate comparisons and understanding. This process assumes a causal relationship 

among the various factors for which the adjustments are made. The specific adjustments or 

factors applied to properties with amenities such as these, are typically derived from a detailed 

sales analysis. Once the appropriate sales are identified and confirmed or qualified, several 

techniques are utilized to extract, or isolate, the specific factor the appraiser is trying to identify. 

Examples of factors and/or adjustments can include such important elements of consideration as 

waterfront or view or water access amenities.  Importantly, a feature can be a positive influence 

on property value, or a negative influence on property value.   

One technique used to isolate a specific factor is known as “extraction” where the appraiser 

subtracts the depreciated value of the improvements from the total sale price to arrive at the 

underlying value of the specific land component being analyzed. This is the most used method. 

Another technique is known as a “matched-pair” comparison analysis; wherein sales of properties 

that retain these features are compared to sales of properties that do not retain these features 

and the specific “contributory” value or factor attributable to the feature is isolated.  

Number of Sales Utilized in Analysis:   

As of the date of this report, there are 4822 total parcels situated in the Municipality.  The 

breakdown of all property transfers for 4/1/2018 to 3/31/2020 within the Municipality by use 

type is as follows: 

 Commercial / Industrial 62 

 Utilities 0 

 Current Use 3 

 Residential 549 

 Condominium 103 

 Mobile Home 114  



 

 27 

 Vacant Residential Land 76 

 Exempt  13 

 Total 920 

The breakdown of all qualified property transfers within the Municipality by “use type” follows: 

 Commercial / Industrial 16 

 Condominium 67 

 Residential 226 

 Mobile home 26 

 Vacant Land 4 

 Total 339 

Income Approach to Value, Income and Expense Data 

During the Kittery revaluation, an opinion of the market value for all properties, including 

commercial, was determined as of 4/1/2020.  In the appraisal of commercial real estate, like 

residential real estate, the three recognized approaches to value are considered: The Cost, Sales 

Comparison, and Income approaches to value. However, the Income Approach, often referred to as 

“capitalization of net income” is used for income generating properties (IAAO, Property Assessment 

Valuation 2nd Edition, 1996, p203). In the Municipality of Kittery, the Income approach was 

considered but due to limited amount of income data, we were unable to utilize the approach and 

therefore unable to appropriately use the methodology. 

Market Rent Analysis:  To establish a basis for market rent in Kittery, rentals of comparable 

properties in the municipality for all property types were considered. Market rent is the rental 

income that a property would most probably command in an open market; indicated by current 

rents paid and asked for comparable space as of the date of the appraisal.  Market rent may differ 

from contract rent, which is rent paid because of a specific agreement. 

To establish market rent data, publications including the Southern Maine housing rental data and 

Southern New Hampshire and Southern Maine rental data for 2020 were utilized. Additionally, to 

collect market rent information, Income and Expense statements were mailed out to all 

commercial property owners throughout the town. This data once received was examined, 

qualified, and analyzed to develop market rent schedules and vacancy/expense ratios for each 

property type (i.e. retail, office, industrial, etc.).   



 

 28 

Market Survey of Capitalization Rates:  Capitalization is the process of converting a net income 

stream into an indication of value.  The selection of a capitalization rate (Ro) can be developed by 

several methods, including Direct Capitalization, the Band of investment Technique, and 

capitalization rate extraction from comparable sales.  

Capitalization rates, or cap rates, can be established through the validated data captured through 

the Income and Expense questionnaires. In Kittery, we established cap rates using the Income and 

Expense questionnaire data and by analyzing real estate market data of the southern Maine, seacoast 

New Hampshire, and northern New England.  

Regional and national publications are typically used to establish cap rate data and analyze markets. 

Additionally, extracting a capitalization rate from comparable sales is usually considered when 

appropriate market data is available.  

As a result, the cap rates for various commercial property types, determined as of 4/1/2020, were 

based on the analysis of market surveys and market data. For more information on the Income 

Approach please refer to the explanation on pages 21 and 22.  

The Cap Rates for Kittery are as follows: 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 29 

Location Adjustment factors for commercial properties: 

 

Typically, when the Income Approach is used, the capitalization rates determined are for 

properties of average quality and location. Further adjustments are applied for utility, location, 

building condition and specific vacancy conditions. Income location adjustment factors are 

mapped consistently with site index adjustment factors to reconcile between the approaches. 

Individual quality adjustments are also applied to each property to account for higher or lower 

utility of the property.   

Reconciliation for all Property Types 

Final Reconciliation:  Reconciliation spreadsheets, sales analysis reports, by property type were 

developed and analyzed.  When possible, all approaches to value were reconciled within a range 

of 0.90 to 1.10 and the cost model was used as the final value estimate.   

Overall, the Cost Approach to value proved the most relevant approach to value for commercial 

properties. The Sales Comparison approach was most relevant for residential properties. 

Land Valuation Models:   

Residential land sales were analyzed by neighborhood to derive typical land value ranges. Due to 

few vacant land sales, the land residual method was used to determine the value of vacant land 

and establish the land curve. Neighborhood adjustment factors were derived to modify the basic 

land curve to the market characteristics of each neighborhood.  Site Indexes were utilized to 

further adjust for specific property conditions within the neighborhood. 

Cost Approach to Value: The Vision Government Solutions CAMA cost tables were utilized, 

supported by national cost valuation services, Marshall and Swift, to develop a replacement cost 

for a building.  The Cost Approach to value was used to evaluate residential and commercial 

properties. 



 

 30 

Sales Approach to Value: This Sales Comparison Approach was used when analyzing residential 

properties and commercial properties.  

Income Approach to Value:  For commercial properties in Kittery, the Income Approach model 

was utilized in the reconciliation process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Town of Kittery, ME 

Final Revaluation Summary 

9/8/2020 

2020 Assessed Value 

2019 Assessed Value 

Overall Change 

Residential 

Vacant 

Manufactured Homes 

Condominiums 

Commercial 

2,170,586,777 

1,547,533,097 

623,053,680 

40% 

45% 

64% 

95% 

44% 

18% 

Median ASR (Assessment to Sales Ratio) 

COD(Coefficient of Dispersion) 

PRD(Price Related Differential) 

98.05 

7.92 

1.004 

• Preliminary notices were mailed July 16, 2020. 

96.7 

7.22 

1.0031 

IAAO Standards 

90%- 110% 

Less than 20.0 

0.98- 1.03 

• We had a total of 468 scheduled hearings from July 30th through August 21st_ 

• We had in person, phone and Zoom hearings. 

• Most people were questioning the large increase in their property value, their property 

information they were being taxed on, and wanted an explanation how the revaluation would 

affect the tax rate. 

• The last Town wide revaluation was done in 2013, so it's been 7 years of a rising real estate 

market that has contributed to the 40 % increase in the real property assessment. 



2334
31/ 6/ / / 3230

Account # 31/6 Bldg # 1 of Card # of

UTILITIESTOPO LOCATION CURRENT ASSESSMENT

4
Code Appraised Value Assessed Value

Total

Description
COMMERC.
COM LAND

3230
3230

309,800
4,398,900

309,800
4,398,900

1 1
Rolling

All Public 1 Paved 4
7

Bus. District
Waterfront

MALL - MAINE GATE  

2334

284 US ROUTE 1  

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

BK-VOL/PAGE SALE DATE PREVIOUS ASSESSMENTS (HISTORY)

OZ-SL

5717
5584
4942
3006

0285
0217
0185
0333

05-28-1991
11-30-1990
11-29-1988
11-12-1982

1
00
1A

RECORD OF OWNERSHIP

Type DescriptionAmount AmountCode
This signature acknowledges a visit by a Data Collector or AssessorOTHER ASSESSMENTS

APPRAISED VALUE SUMMARY

EXEMPTIONS
Year

NBHD Name Street Index Name Tracing Batch
0001

ASSESSING NEIGHBORHOOD

Net Total Appraised Parcel Value

Appraised Land Value (Bldg)

Appraised XF (B) Value (Bldg)

Appraised OB (L) Value (Bldg)

Special Land Value

Appraised Bldg. Value (Card) 309,800

0

0

4,398,900

Total Appraised Parcel Value 4,708,700

Valuation Method

Adjustment

Total Exemptions

O

0

NOTES

Number Comm. Int.

Issue Date DescriptionType Amount % Comp Comments Date IS ID CDType
VENT UNITS
REPAIR SIDING
C-EXPAND ORVIS
Orvis - Fitup
Barbour - Fitup
Barbour Inc. - Fitup
Add roof gable over  

09-15-2010
07-08-2008

100
100
100
100
100
100
100

04-06-2013
05-14-2011

10,824
92,246
6,131
3,500

439
0

10,000

Commercial

Commercial
Commercial
Commercial
Commercial
Commercial

CM
CM
CM
CM
CM
CM
CM

14-283
14-181
13-016B
10-313
10-285
08-245
08-128

09-24-2014
09-16-2014
02-06-2013
09-22-2010
09-01-2010
07-08-2008
05-09-2008

ET
ET
MO
ST
PR
PR
MH

41
14
70
68
53
53
00

BUILDING PERMIT RECORD

LAND LINE VALUATION SECTION

S Adj Adj UnitPric LandValueAdjSTICFacto

Permit ID

D Front Depth IFacto SpecialPricingNotesAdj

1,278,900

B UseC Zone

1
1

3230
3230

C-1
C-1

0
0

0
0

43,560
2.600

3.67
150,000

8.000
8.000

A
0

1.000
1.000

AcreD

1.00
1.00

1.00
1.00

SITE
SITE

0
0

08-06-2020
03-26-2020
09-24-2019
05-15-2013
04-06-2013
05-14-2011
01-20-1998

29.36
1,200,000

1,278,900
3,120,000

Level

Description

CURRENT OWNER

SALE PRICEV/IQ/U

U
Q
U

Property Location
Vision ID

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Total

Total Land Value

STRT / ROAD

0
575,000

1
0

VC

VISIT / CHANGE HISTORY
Purpose / ResultDate CompInsp Date

NBHD / SUB

S A

KO
KO

Sec #

I
I
I

Field Review
Bldg Permit Inspection
Bldg Permit Inspection
Measur+Listed

1.000
1.000

SHOPNGMALL
SHOPNGMALL

UseDescription Units

SF
AC

Total Card Land Units

MAINE GATE OUTLET MALL 100050

31/6A COMBINED WITH 31/6 '92 3006/333

9.19- EDDIE BAUER BARBOUR. ORVIS

FY2020-21 ABMT GRANTED

APPROX 50% OF BLDING=NON

SUSPEND CEILING

CATH-C FULL LOFT AREAS

UBM USED FOR STORAGE

LEATHER LOFT, CORNING DESIGNS,

KITCHEN COLLECTION

ZBA 9/25/07  ZBA 7/22/08  ZBA 10/12/10

4,708,700 4,708,700

4,708,700

Alt ID
Sub-div
Flood Zon
Overlay Zo
TIF 2010 T
ADU appro

TIF
Last TG R
Date next  
Last Farm 
Condo Ass

ASSOC PID#Gis ID

11 11 7/20/2021 7:11:19 PM

4513

TotalTotalTotal 5,280,200 5,667,800 5,188,100

AssessedCod
2020
Year

3230
3230

881,300
4,398,900

AssessedType
2020
Year

3230
3230

1,268,900
4,398,900

AssessedCode
2019
Year

3230
3230
3230

1,313,200
3,832,700

42,200

KITTERY, ME

UnitPrice

NEWINGTON NH 03801

SHAFMASTER, JONATHAN S

158 SHATTUCK WAY

SHAFMASTER, JONATHAN S
WILLEY CREEK CO INC
VARNEY CARRIE B
SHAFMASTER JON COMB 31/6A

4 A



2334
31/ 6/ / / 3230

31/6 Bldg # 1 Sec # 1 of Card # of

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
Desctiption Desctiption

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL (CONTINUED)

Regnl Shop Cnt
Ind/Com Open

Element

Description Percentage
MIXED USE

Cost Trend Factor

Dep % Ovr
Dep Ovr Comment
Misc Imp Ovr
Misc Imp Ovr Comment
Cost to Cure Ovr
Cost to Cure Ovr Comment

Element

Code

L/B Units Unit Price Yr Gd Dp RtDescription Su Sub Desc Cd %Cd Apr Value
OB - OUTBUILDING & YARD ITEMS(L) / XF - BUILDING EXTRA FEATURES(B)

BUILDING SUB-AREA SUMMARY SECTION
Living Area Eff AreaGross Area Undeprec ValueDescription Unit CostCode

COST / MARKET VALUATION

1999

48
809,400

Code
SPR1
PAV1

SPRINKLER
PAVING-ASP

B
L

37,9
30,0

2.00
0.00

199
199

0
0

Average +10

Vinyl Siding

Gable/Hip

Carpet

SUS-CEIL & WL

284 US ROUTE 1  Property Location
Vision ID Account #

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Ttl Gross Liv / Lease Area

48
80

0.00
0.00

BAS
FEP
FUS
PTO
UBM
ULP

First Floor
Porch, Enclosed, Finished
Upper Story, Finished
Patio
Basement, Unfinished
Loading Platform, Unfinishe

16,366
0

2,700
0
0
0

16,366
98

2,700
1,652

18,010
400

16,366
64

2,700
83

4,503
80

3230 SHOPNGMALL 100
0
0

Style

Grade

Exterior Wall 1
Exterior Wall 2
Roof Structure

Asph/F Gls/CmpRoof Cover
Drywall/SheetInterior Wall 1

Interior Wall 2
Interior Floor 1
Interior Floor 2

OilHeating Fuel
Forced Air-DucHeating Type
CentralAC Type

SHOPNGMALLPrim Bldg Use
Total Rooms
Total Bedrms
Total Baths

HEAT/AC PKGSHeat/AC
Frame Type WOOD FRAME

AVERAGEBaths/Plumbing
Ceiling/Wall

AVERAGERooms/Prtns
-2.6000

Model

1983
1,686,232RCN

AYB
Effective Year Built

ADepreciation Code
Remodel Rating
Year Remodeled

42Depreciation %
10Functional Obsol
0Economic Obsol

Condition

RCNLD

1 1Car 7/20/2021 7:11:20 PM

1.63
1.76

19,066 23,79639,226

% Complete

Occupancy

Cd

Stories:

15
96
04
1
5.00
25

03
03
05

14

02
04
03

3230

00
0

01
02
02
05
02
10.00
0.00

Cd

Net Other Adj
Bldg Replace Cost
Adj Base Rate 64.42















Edward C. Tinker  
351 Post Rd 
Greenland, NH 03840 
Hm: 603-294-0294 I Cell: 603-545-1761 
etinker@mrigov.com 

 
 
 
 
Professional Experience e 

 

Contract Assessor, Municipal Resources, Inc. September 2018 -Present 
 
• Residential/Commercial Contract Assessor for multiple communities including Hampton, Rye, 

Exeter, and Newington.  
 

• Worked on multiple revaluations including Exeter 2019, Newmarket 2019, Hampton 2019, 
Durham 2019, Epping 2020, Fremont 2020, Jaffrey 2020, Dunbarton 2020, Windham 2020 & 
Kittery, Me. 2020.  

 
• Extensive Work with Vision CAMA System 
• Administer Exemptions & Credits 
• Current Use, Land Use Change Tax, Timber & Excavation Activities 
• BTLA, I Court Preparation & Defense 
• Prepare the MS 1, all tax warrants. 
• Extensive public interaction regarding the assessing process 

 

 

 

Chief Assessor, Town of Hampton, NH September 2009 -Present 
 
• Since taking over this position I have reorganized the assessing department 

and completed a 2011 & 2016 revaluation in conjunction with Vision Appraisal. 
 

• Extensive Work with Vision CAMA System 
• Administer Exemptions & Credits 
• Current Use, Land Use Change Tax, Timber & Excavation Activities 
• BTLA I Court Preparation & Defense 
• Prepare the MS 1, all tax warrants 
• Extensive public interaction regarding the assessing process 

 
 
 
 

mailto:etinker@mrigov.com


 

Chief Assessor, City of Claremont, NH September 2007 - September 2009 
 

• With the assistance of staff we completed an in-house revaluation in 2009. 
 

• Extensive Work with Vision CAMA System 
• Administer Exemptions & Credits 
• Current Use, Land Use Change Tax, Timber & Excavation Activities 
• BTLA I Court Preparation & Defense 
• Prepare the MS 1, all tax warrants 
• Extensive public interaction regarding the assessing process 

 
 
 
Planning & Development Director, City of Claremont, NH October 2008 - September 2009 

 
• Oversee a staff of 7, including Planning, Zoning, Building Codes, & Economic Development 
• Planning Board: preparation & presentation 
• Zoning Board of Adju stment: preparation & presentation 
• Boards & Commissions: oversight and assistance 

 
 
 
 
 

District Manager, Avitar Associates of NE, Inc. Chichester, NH June 2002 -August 2007 
• Contract Assessor/ Administrator to Misc. Communities in NH 
• Oversee all Facets of Revaluation Work & Staff, having been involved in approximately 20 

Revaluations and/or Updates 
• Measure & List All Classes of Property 
• Building Permit Work - New Construction & Pick Up Work 
• Sales Analysis & Sales Verification. 
• DRA Sales Ratio Study 
• Report Writing 

 
 
 

Review Appraiser, Cole-Layer-Trumble Co. Tolland, CN January  1999 -June 2002 
• Worked on   numerous   revaluations as   a   review   appraiser   within   New   Hampshire, 

Massachusetts, Connecticut, Pennsylvania, and Nassau  Co. Long Island, N Y. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Education 
• Appraisal Institute - Course 110 
• IAAO Course 101 - Principles in Mass Appraisal 
• IAAO Course 102 - Income Approach to Value 
• IAAO Course 311 - Residential Modeling Concepts 
• IAAO Course 400 - Assessing Administration 
• IAAO Course 257 - Fundamentals of Industrial Valuation 
• New Hampshire State Statutes (2004 & 2010) 
• Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP 2005 & 2007) 

 
Designations 
• Certified New Hampshire Assessor (CNHA #157) 
• NH Dept of Revenue, Certified Assessor Supervisor # 365 
• Member in Good Standing of NHAAO 
• NHAAO -Rockingham County director 
• NHAAO - Legislative Committee 
• NHAAO -Ethics Committee 
• NHAAO -Nominating Committee 
• State of Connecticut Residential &Commercial Valuation Certification (expired) 
2014 -2nd Vice President - NHAAO 
2015 – 1st Vice President -NHAAO 
2016 -President Elect -NHAAO 
2017 - Past President - NHAAO 



















































































































































































ABATEMENT APPEAL TO BOARD OF ASSESSMENT REVIEW 

TOWN OF KITTERY - RESPONSE BY THE ASSESSOR 

 

Date of Hearing:   July 28, 2021 

 

Owner Name:   F/C Kittery Development LLC 

Property Address:   375 US Route 1  Map-Lot: 47-4  

Preliminary Assessment:  $20,309,800 

FY2020-21 Assessment:  $20,309,800 

 

Property Address:   318 US Route 1  Map-Lot: 38-13A  

Preliminary Assessment:  $4,695,900 

FY2020-21 Assessment:  $4,695,900 

 

Owner Name:   Ripley Road Associates LLC 

Property Address:   294 US Route 1   Map-Lot: 38-14 

Preliminary Assessment:  $6,134,400  

FY2020-21 Assessment:  $6,134,400 

 

Owner Name:   CPG Kittery Holdings LLC 

Property Address:   345 US Route 1  Map-Lot: 47-1  

Preliminary Assessment:  $26,053,900 

FY2020-21 Assessment:  $26,053,900 

 

Owner Name:   CPG Finance II LLC 

Property Address:   325 US Route 1  Map-Lot: 38-7  

Preliminary Assessment:  $4,359,800 

FY2020-21 Assessment:  $4,058,600 



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

 

TOWN’S RESPONSE TO 2020 TAX ABATEMENT AND APPEAL     
  

DEVELOPMENT OF VALUES AND VALUATION PROCEDURES  

  

FINAL REVALUATION SUMMARY  

       

PROPERTY CARDS   

        

QUALIFICATIONS OF THE ASSESSOR & ASSESSING STAFF   



Town’s Response to the 2020 Abatement and Appeal:  

 

The Kittery Premium Outlets / Simon Property Group consisting of the following properties: 

  Map  & Lot                   Address                  2019 Assessment            2020 Assessment       % Change 

      38-7                      325 US Route 1              $3,516,600                      $4,359,800                 13.35% 
      38-13-A                318 US Route 1              $4,415,000                      $4,695,900                   5.98% 
      38-14                    294 US Route 1              $5,885,700                      $6,134,400                   4.05% 
      47-1                      345 US Route 1              $25,822,100                    $26,053,900                 0.89% 
      47-4                      375 US Route 1              $18,643,900                    $20,309,800                 8.20% 
 
     Total Assessment change for 2020          $58,283,300                    $61,252,600                 4.85% 
 
The properties in aggregate represent an increase of 4.85% over the 2019 assessments. 
 
The 2019 tax burden for the properties amounted to $1,014,129.42. 
 
The 2020 tax burden for the properties resulting from their 2020 revised assessments amount to 
$790,158.54. 
 
The 2020 tax burden represents an overall decrease of $223,970.88, representing a tax burden 
decrease of (28.35%) 
 
The Town of Kittery completed a town wide revaluation in 2020, the last revaluation was completed in 
2013. 

The 2020 assessments are based on each property’s improvements and their condition as they existed 
as of April 1, 2020. 

The valuation methodology relies on the three approaches to value:  

1. Cost approach  
2. Income approach  
3. Sales comparison approach 

Mass appraisal utilizes all 3 approaches in developing assessments, when applicable.    

Assessments are relative to a single date in time, for Kittery this date is April 1, 2020, and follows the 
assessment year which begins on April 1 and ends on March 31st.  

Therefore, in completing the 2020 valuation update it represents assessments as of an effective date of 
April 1, 2020, and therefore represents the property as of that date in time.  

Additionally, any changes both physically and economically that took place after April 1, 2020, would not 
be considered due to the effective date of the assessments/appraisal report. 



These are the reasons that income and expense data is analyzed for a multi-year period prior to the 
effective date. 

As part of the 2020 revaluation, we developed market driven data as a result of reviewing data relative 
to rental rates, income and expense data, vacancy rates and market driven capitalization rates for 
individual type properties, in the case of the subject properties that would be retail cap rates.  

In completing the 2020 revaluation the Town sent out formal requests for 2019 Income and expense  
data, however in the case of Simon Properties, we did not receive any of the requested financial data at 
that time. 
 
Once preliminary valuations were set, notices of the 2020 valuations were sent to the property owner. 
 
We were then contacted by Aaron Carter, Sr. Tax Manager for Simon Property Group and through 
several emails the valuation process including income data was discussed. 
  
Abatement applications were submitted and dated March 16, 2021, and at that point we were able to 
receive and analysis income and expense data for tax years 2016 thru 2020. 
 
In reviewing the I & E data from 2016 thru 2019 it was very consistent in the resulting net operating 
income from the five properties. The average NOI for those 4 years was $6,798,254. 
 
Utilizing an average cap rate of 9.58 (9.19 +.39) for this period would result in a fair market value 
opinion via the income approach of $70,962,985. 
 
Utilizing both the 2018 ($7,056,804) and 2019 ($6,382,689) NOI’s result in an average NOI of  
of $6,719,747, utilizing a blended cap rate of 9.32 (8.93 + 0.39) results in an indicated market value 
opinion for tax 2019 of $72,100,289.  
 
 
    
 
 



 

 18 

 

 

 

 

SECTION 3 

Development of Values and Valuation Procedures 



 

 19 

Description of Basic Valuation Theory and Mass Appraisal 

Identify Property 

The appraiser’s first task is to identify what property is being appraised.  This includes physical 

aspects of the property and property rights. 

There are six basic property rights associated with the private ownership of property, these 

include:  1) the right to use, 2) the right to sell, 3) the right to lease or rent, 4) the right to enter 

or leave the property, 5) the right to give away, and 6) the right to refuse to do any of these.  

These, and other rights, are known as the full “bundle of rights,” which is understood to be 

attached to an ownership with “fee simple” title which has been described in the preceding 

section. 

Determine Highest and Best Use 

The next step is to identify the highest and best use of the property.  Refer to the preceding 

discussion, as well as the preceding section “Identification of Assumptions and Limiting, 

Hypothetical and Extraordinary Conditions” for more information on highest and best use. 

Once the highest and best use has been determined, the appraiser begins the process of data 

collection, studies the market and accompanying economic forces (such as supply and demand) 

pertaining to highest and best use, and assembles the relevant data and statistics for 

incorporation into the analysis. 

Collect and Analyze Data 

Strategies for data collection will vary with the type of data being sought and may not be the same 

for every property use. Overall, the comparative data, which may include descriptions and/or 

confirmations of the property’s physical attributes, cost, income and expense, and details of sale 

or transfer information are collected, if applicable.  

At this point, neighborhood boundaries can be established to “stratify” the properties and the 

property-specific information collected in the field. As a result, statistical information pertaining 

to the market/economic forces that impact an area can be defined by set boundaries in a 

meaningful and cohesive way. 

This market-derived information, such as sale information, improvement costs, and depreciation, 

is then entered into the Municipality’s CAMA (Computer Assisted Mass Appraisal) system, and 



 

 20 

forms the basis for the database “tables” that enable the CAMA system to generate specific 

property values. 

Data Calibration Methods and Approaches to Value 

There are primarily three approaches or analytical techniques utilized to develop an opinion of 

value, and these techniques are incorporated into the CAMA system. Below is a description of 

each technique descriptions of situations where the approach would be best used. Typically, more 

than one technique is used. The most applicable approach will be given the most weight in the 

reconciliation stage. Techniques are reconciled during analysis. 

Cost Approach Methodology:  The “Cost Approach” is based on a comparison of the subject 

property to the cost to produce a new subject property or a substitute property. This concept is called 

the “principle of substitution.” 

The Cost Approach is based on the concept that the likely value of an existing property equates 

to underlying land value plus the replacement cost of the depreciated improvements.  Typically, 

a Cost Approach would not be utilized for an appraisal of vacant land.  The replacement cost of 

any improvements is typically derived from published cost tables, or derived directly from 

localized information, and should be updated as required by market conditions.  Items considered 

in this estimate are the age, condition, and utility of the property.  

Importantly, the assessor typically evaluates existing improvements based on utility and function, 

rather than attempting to duplicate or exactly reproduce the assessed property. The Cost 

Approach can be used for commercial and residential property. 

Cost Approach Modeling: In applying the Cost Approach, the appraiser, or assessor, will first 

value the land of the subject based on comparable land sales, sales land residuals or income 

land residuals.  Second, the appraiser will estimate the cost to construct the existing structure, 

along with any site improvements. Once the cost of the building is developed, depreciation from 

normal wear and tear and from functional and economic obsolescence is deducted. The 

remaining value is considered the Replacement Cost Less Depreciation (RCLD).    

Sales Comparison Approach Methodology: The “Sales Comparison Approach” is based on the 

premise that the appraiser can use sale prices of similar properties as evidence of value. In other 

words, the Sales Comparison Approach reflects the actions and reactions of typical buyers and sellers 

in the marketplace, assuming in similar market conditions a similar property would sell for a similar 



 

 21 

price, illustrating principles of supply and demand.  During the process, the appraiser compares a 

subject property to other comparable properties sold within the analysis period and adjusting the 

sale prices of comparable properties to compensate for differences. The differences are weighed 

through value indications developed to arrive at an opinion of market value for the subject property. 

As no two properties are ever exactly alike, and market conditions can change, a systematic series 

of adjustments are made to the sale property to bring it into conformity with the appraised 

property. A comparative analysis process is completed to determine and define similarities and 

differences of properties and transactions that can affect value. These elements may include 

property rights appraised, financing terms, market conditions, size, location, and physical features. 

The Sales Comparison Approach can be used for commercial, residential, and vacant land types 

of property. 

Sales Comparison Approach Modeling:  In the context of mass appraisal performed for 

assessment purposes, the appraised property begins with a generic property description that is 

utilized to establish a “baseline” for comparing similar properties. For instance, the recent sale of 

a single-family residential ranch-style home, approximating 2,000 square feet, three-bedrooms, 

two-baths, and of average quality construction and condition, could be compared to other 

similarly situated single-family ranch-style homes. The sales are compared and adjusted to isolate 

the various market factors and baseline parameters that are then applied to the specific 

properties being assessed. Like the Cost Approach, the Sales Comparison Approach is based upon 

the principle of substitution, but it assumes that when several similar properties are available, 

instead of individual improvements for one property, the property with the lowest price will 

attract the greatest demand.                                      

Income Approach Methodology: The “Income Approach” is based upon the “principle of 

anticipation” which recognizes that value is created by the owner’s expectation of future benefits.  

Typically, these benefits are anticipated in the form of income, and/or in the anticipated increase 

in the property’s value over time. The approach is based on set of procedures which derives a value 

by analyzing and determining an income flow from the market, and then capitalizing this stream of 

income into a value. Generally, the Income Approach is used for commercial properties. 

Income Approach Modeling:  The Income Approach technique requires that the appraiser 

estimate the potential gross market income for the property at its highest and best use, subtract 

all appropriate expenses to derive the net operating income (NOI).  



 

 22 

Market Rent Analysis:  The first step in analyzing properties income potential is to establish 

market rent for land and improvements.  Market rent is the rental income that a property would 

most probably command in an open market.  Market rent is applicable when the property rights 

appraised are fee simple.  To estimate the property's market rent, rental data from comparable 

properties are required to be gathered and analyzed. 

The net operating income is then divided by a “capitalization rate” (Ro) or the market-derived rate 

investors would expect on alternative investments that share the same degree of risk as the 

appraised property. Capitalization is the process of converting a net income stream into an 

indication of value.  The selection of a capitalization rate (Ro) can be developed by several 

methods including the Direct Capitalization Method and Band of Investment Technique. 

Direct Capitalization Method:  Direct Capitalization is a method used to convert an estimate of 

a single year’s income expectancy into an indication of value in one direct step, either by dividing 

the income estimate by an appropriate rate or by multiplying the income estimate by an 

appropriate factor.  Extraction of a capitalization rate (Ro) from market surveys and by the band 

of investment technique are the most accepted methods.  They will be utilized to determine a 

direct capitalization rate for each commercial property type. Another method to develop a 

capitalization rate is through extracting it from comparable sales.   

Band of Investment Technique:  This is a technique in which the capitalization rates attributable 

components of a capital investment are weighted and combined to derive a weighted average 

rate that is attributable to the total investment.  The two components are the mortgage position 

and the equity position.  The variables considered are the mortgage interest rate, amortization 

period, holding period, loan to value ratio and the equity yield rate.   

Once the capitalization rate is developed the NOI is divided by this rate to determine a value by 

the income approach. 

A simplified income approach is structured as follows: 

Annual Potential Gross Income  

                     5 apartments @ $1,000/month = $60,000  

Annual Vacancy Rate = 5% annually = ($3,000) 

Annual Effective Gross Income =  $57,000 

Annual Expenses =  ($23,000) 



 

 23 

Net Operating Income =  $34,000 

Capitalization Rate = 10% 

Property Value = $34,000 / 10% = $340,000 

Summary of Approaches to Value 

Utilizing all three of the preceding independent approaches to value is preferable, since each 

independent approach provides a useful “test of reasonableness,” and more such tests are 

preferable to fewer such tests.  However, it is not always possible to complete a specific approach 

due to the unavailability of meaningful data.   

At the end of analysis, the different values reached by independent techniques are reconciled by 

evaluating both the quality of the information utilized in each approach, and a final opinion of 

value is selected. 

In Kittery, all approaches were considered and utilized. There is a summary of approaches to value 

used in Kittery at the end of this section. 

Overview of Mass Appraisal 

Mass appraisal utilizes many of the same concepts outlined above.  However, due to the necessity 

to attach values to multiple properties, as opposed to a single property, mass appraisal 

emphasizes data management, statistical valuation models, and statistical quality control.  As a 

result, the use of an automated valuation model (AVM), also referred to as Computer Assisted 

Mass Appraisal (CAMA), software is required.  The CAMA or AVM is a mathematically based 

computer software program that produces an estimate of market value based on market analysis 

of location, market conditions, and real estate characteristics from information that was 

previously and separately collected.  The distinguishing feature of CAMA or AVM software is that 

it is a market appraisal produced through mathematical modeling. Importantly, as in most if not 

all data processing systems, the credibility of the results is highly correlated with the quality of 

the input data utilized, and the skills of the assessor or analyst utilizing the CAMA or AVM 

software. 

 Therefore, a mass appraisal system generally relies upon four primary subsystems that include: 

1) a data management system, 2) a sales analysis system, 3) a valuation system, and 4) an 

administration system. Each subsystem is briefly described below: 



 

 24 

The “Data Management” system is the core of the mass appraisal system and should be carefully 

designed and implemented.  Fundamentally, the data management system is responsible for the 

data entry and subsequent editing, as well as the organization, storage, and security oversight of 

the data.  Essential to the data management system is quality control, as the reliability of the data 

will have a direct and profound impact on the quality of the resulting output and values. 

The “Sales Analysis” subsystem is responsible for the collection of sale data, sale screening, 

various statistical studies and sales reporting.  The following statistical techniques are utilized to 

calibrate and fine-tune the data assumptions: 

 Ratio:  refers to the relationship between the appraised or assessed values and market 

values as determined by a review of sales.  The ratio studies, which are the primary product of 

this function, typically provide the most meaningful measures of appraisal performance and 

provide the basis for establishing corrective actions (re-appraisals), adjusting valuations to the 

market, and planning and scheduling administration.  The requirement is to maintain a Median 

Ratio between 90% and 110% of market value. A ratio of 100% is preferred, indicating the 

assessed value is identical to the market value. 

 COD: or Coefficient of Dispersion, is another important statistical tool utilized in mass 

appraisal and refers to the average percentage deviation from the median ratio.  As a measure of 

central tendency, the COD represents the degree to which the data being analyzed clusters 

around a central data point, such as the median ratio.  The requirement is a COD no greater than 

20%. A lower COD is preferable to a higher COD. 

 PRD: or Price-Related Differential, is calculated by dividing the mean by the weighted 

mean.  A PRD greater than 1.03 indicates assessment regressivity. Regressivity is when high-value 

properties are assessed lower or disproportionate to, than low value properties.  A PRD lower 

than 0.98 indicates assessment progressivity (when high-value properties are assessed higher, or 

disproportionate to, low-value properties.  The requirement is a PRD no greater than 1.03, and 

no lower than 0.98.  Overall, a PRD equal to 1.0 is preferred. 

The “Valuation System” generally comprises the statistical application of the three approaches to 

value which are identified in the preceding section.  For instance, utilization of the Sales 

Comparison Approach includes a statistical analysis of current market sales data. The Cost 

Approach utilizes computerized cost and depreciation tables and reconciles these computerized 

cost-generated values with market-derived sales information. The Income Approach utilizes 



 

 25 

computer-generated income multipliers and overall capitalization rates.  The Valuation System is 

also utilized to extract adjustments and/or factors that are utilized in the development of values. 

The “Administrative System” includes such core, often automated, functions as development of 

the property record cards and assessment roll or property tax base, the preparation of the tax 

notices, and retention of the appeals and other miscellaneous property files. 

Period of Time Associated with Sales/Data Collection:   

Sale data utilized for the purpose of completing this analysis spanned a two-year period from April 

1, 2018 to March 31, 2020.  Only sales confirmed to be qualified “arms-length,” or market-

oriented transactions, were utilized in the analysis. 

Data Collection and Sales Verification Procedures:   

The County Registry of Deeds provides the Municipality’s Assessing Department with copies of all 

recorded property transfers within 30 days of the date of transfer. Each individual sale was 

analyzed by the Municipality’s assessing staff to determine if the transfer was a qualified sale; i.e., 

arm’s-length and market oriented.  The qualification procedure required either a direct interview 

with the buyer, seller, or broker/representative familiar with the circumstances surrounding the 

negotiated transfer of the property or was verified through Real Estate Transfer Tax Declaration 

(RETTD) forms.  Upon final qualification, an attempt was made to inspect the property and the 

property record cards were updated. As previously mentioned, due to the safety concerns 

revolving around the COVID-19 outbreak mid-March 2020, sale properties not visited received an 

exterior inspection and property owners, when applicable, were asked to complete a 

questionnaire about the sale and interior physical attributes of the property. 

Description of Qualified Sales and Sales Analysis Process: 

The sale data was verified for accuracy by submitting each sale properties thorough physical 

measure and list, including interior inspection whenever possible, and market analysis. The sale 

review process confirms a transaction, or sale, was arm’s length with no unusual circumstances 

that might have influenced the negotiated sale price. This review process exposed unqualified 

sales and established the qualified sales available to conduct the analysis. Once sales were 

verified, and the preliminary benchmarks established, field reviews were conducted to refine the 

base tables and verify the alignment of properties and the tables by “use type” and location, for 

example.  The preliminary values were further validated by the statistical testing of the sale data 



 

 26 

made possible by the CAMA software system. The CAMA software groups and sorts the data by 

various elements of consideration such as:  improvement type, age, size, and neighborhood, and 

various ratios are developed that reveal discrepancies in the underlying valuation model. 

Significance of Adjustments and Factors: 

“Adjustments” and “factors” are mathematical changes to basic data (for example data in a base 

table) to facilitate comparisons and understanding. This process assumes a causal relationship 

among the various factors for which the adjustments are made. The specific adjustments or 

factors applied to properties with amenities such as these, are typically derived from a detailed 

sales analysis. Once the appropriate sales are identified and confirmed or qualified, several 

techniques are utilized to extract, or isolate, the specific factor the appraiser is trying to identify. 

Examples of factors and/or adjustments can include such important elements of consideration as 

waterfront or view or water access amenities.  Importantly, a feature can be a positive influence 

on property value, or a negative influence on property value.   

One technique used to isolate a specific factor is known as “extraction” where the appraiser 

subtracts the depreciated value of the improvements from the total sale price to arrive at the 

underlying value of the specific land component being analyzed. This is the most used method. 

Another technique is known as a “matched-pair” comparison analysis; wherein sales of properties 

that retain these features are compared to sales of properties that do not retain these features 

and the specific “contributory” value or factor attributable to the feature is isolated.  

Number of Sales Utilized in Analysis:   

As of the date of this report, there are 4822 total parcels situated in the Municipality.  The 

breakdown of all property transfers for 4/1/2018 to 3/31/2020 within the Municipality by use 

type is as follows: 

 Commercial / Industrial 62 

 Utilities 0 

 Current Use 3 

 Residential 549 

 Condominium 103 

 Mobile Home 114  



 

 27 

 Vacant Residential Land 76 

 Exempt  13 

 Total 920 

The breakdown of all qualified property transfers within the Municipality by “use type” follows: 

 Commercial / Industrial 16 

 Condominium 67 

 Residential 226 

 Mobile home 26 

 Vacant Land 4 

 Total 339 

Income Approach to Value, Income and Expense Data 

During the Kittery revaluation, an opinion of the market value for all properties, including 

commercial, was determined as of 4/1/2020.  In the appraisal of commercial real estate, like 

residential real estate, the three recognized approaches to value are considered: The Cost, Sales 

Comparison, and Income approaches to value. However, the Income Approach, often referred to as 

“capitalization of net income” is used for income generating properties (IAAO, Property Assessment 

Valuation 2nd Edition, 1996, p203). In the Municipality of Kittery, the Income approach was 

considered but due to limited amount of income data, we were unable to utilize the approach and 

therefore unable to appropriately use the methodology. 

Market Rent Analysis:  To establish a basis for market rent in Kittery, rentals of comparable 

properties in the municipality for all property types were considered. Market rent is the rental 

income that a property would most probably command in an open market; indicated by current 

rents paid and asked for comparable space as of the date of the appraisal.  Market rent may differ 

from contract rent, which is rent paid because of a specific agreement. 

To establish market rent data, publications including the Southern Maine housing rental data and 

Southern New Hampshire and Southern Maine rental data for 2020 were utilized. Additionally, to 

collect market rent information, Income and Expense statements were mailed out to all 

commercial property owners throughout the town. This data once received was examined, 

qualified, and analyzed to develop market rent schedules and vacancy/expense ratios for each 

property type (i.e. retail, office, industrial, etc.).   



 

 28 

Market Survey of Capitalization Rates:  Capitalization is the process of converting a net income 

stream into an indication of value.  The selection of a capitalization rate (Ro) can be developed by 

several methods, including Direct Capitalization, the Band of investment Technique, and 

capitalization rate extraction from comparable sales.  

Capitalization rates, or cap rates, can be established through the validated data captured through 

the Income and Expense questionnaires. In Kittery, we established cap rates using the Income and 

Expense questionnaire data and by analyzing real estate market data of the southern Maine, seacoast 

New Hampshire, and northern New England.  

Regional and national publications are typically used to establish cap rate data and analyze markets. 

Additionally, extracting a capitalization rate from comparable sales is usually considered when 

appropriate market data is available.  

As a result, the cap rates for various commercial property types, determined as of 4/1/2020, were 

based on the analysis of market surveys and market data. For more information on the Income 

Approach please refer to the explanation on pages 21 and 22.  

The Cap Rates for Kittery are as follows: 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 29 

Location Adjustment factors for commercial properties: 

 

Typically, when the Income Approach is used, the capitalization rates determined are for 

properties of average quality and location. Further adjustments are applied for utility, location, 

building condition and specific vacancy conditions. Income location adjustment factors are 

mapped consistently with site index adjustment factors to reconcile between the approaches. 

Individual quality adjustments are also applied to each property to account for higher or lower 

utility of the property.   

Reconciliation for all Property Types 

Final Reconciliation:  Reconciliation spreadsheets, sales analysis reports, by property type were 

developed and analyzed.  When possible, all approaches to value were reconciled within a range 

of 0.90 to 1.10 and the cost model was used as the final value estimate.   

Overall, the Cost Approach to value proved the most relevant approach to value for commercial 

properties. The Sales Comparison approach was most relevant for residential properties. 

Land Valuation Models:   

Residential land sales were analyzed by neighborhood to derive typical land value ranges. Due to 

few vacant land sales, the land residual method was used to determine the value of vacant land 

and establish the land curve. Neighborhood adjustment factors were derived to modify the basic 

land curve to the market characteristics of each neighborhood.  Site Indexes were utilized to 

further adjust for specific property conditions within the neighborhood. 

Cost Approach to Value: The Vision Government Solutions CAMA cost tables were utilized, 

supported by national cost valuation services, Marshall and Swift, to develop a replacement cost 

for a building.  The Cost Approach to value was used to evaluate residential and commercial 

properties. 



 

 30 

Sales Approach to Value: This Sales Comparison Approach was used when analyzing residential 

properties and commercial properties.  

Income Approach to Value:  For commercial properties in Kittery, the Income Approach model 

was utilized in the reconciliation process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Town of Kittery, ME 

Final Revaluation Summary 

9/8/2020 

2020 Assessed Value 

2019 Assessed Value 

Overall Change 

Residential 

Vacant 

Manufactured Homes 

Condominiums 

Commercial 

2,170,586,777 

1,547,533,097 

623,053,680 

40% 

45% 

64% 

95% 

44% 

18% 

Median ASR (Assessment to Sales Ratio) 

COD(Coefficient of Dispersion) 

PRD(Price Related Differential) 

98.05 

7.92 

1.004 

• Preliminary notices were mailed July 16, 2020. 

96.7 

7.22 

1.0031 

IAAO Standards 

90%- 110% 

Less than 20.0 

0.98- 1.03 

• We had a total of 468 scheduled hearings from July 30th through August 21st_ 

• We had in person, phone and Zoom hearings. 

• Most people were questioning the large increase in their property value, their property 

information they were being taxed on, and wanted an explanation how the revaluation would 

affect the tax rate. 

• The last Town wide revaluation was done in 2013, so it's been 7 years of a rising real estate 

market that has contributed to the 40 % increase in the real property assessment. 



2969
47/ 4/ / / 3230

Account # 47/4 Bldg # 1 of Card # of

UTILITIESTOPO LOCATION CURRENT ASSESSMENT
Code Appraised Value Assessed Value

Total

Description
COMMERC.
COM LAND

3230
3230

5,513,500
14,796,300

5,513,500
14,796,300

1 1 All Public 1 Paved 4 Bus. District

MALL - TIDEWATER O

2969

375 US ROUTE 1  

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

BK-VOL/PAGE SALE DATE PREVIOUS ASSESSMENTS (HISTORY)

OZ-SL

10381
8497
7975
6051
3069

81
296
44
49
179

12-22-2000
10-29-1997
08-28-1996
04-14-1992
04-15-1983

1
1

1A
00

RECORD OF OWNERSHIP

Type DescriptionAmount AmountCode
This signature acknowledges a visit by a Data Collector or AssessorOTHER ASSESSMENTS

APPRAISED VALUE SUMMARY

EXEMPTIONS
Year

NBHD Name Street Index Name Tracing Batch
0001

ASSESSING NEIGHBORHOOD

Net Total Appraised Parcel Value

Appraised Land Value (Bldg)

Appraised XF (B) Value (Bldg)

Appraised OB (L) Value (Bldg)

Special Land Value

Appraised Bldg. Value (Card) 5,137,400

103,200

272,900

14,796,300

Total Appraised Parcel Value 20,309,800

Valuation Method

Adjustment

Total Exemptions

C

0

NOTES

Number Comm. Int.

Issue Date DescriptionType Amount % Comp Comments Date IS ID CDType
4 EL CAR CHRG ST
PEPPER PLACE, IN
2 MOUNTED SIGNS  
INT RENO SPERRY
RENO TENANT SPA
COM REFIT: REMO
LHI KATE SPADE

07-20-2020

08-27-2019
07-09-2018

0
100
100
100
100
100
100

04-16-2020
04-01-2020
04-16-2020
12-19-2019
12-19-2019
02-11-2019

150,000
1,500

280,000

350,000
175,000

CommericalCM
CM
CM
FT
DE
FT
CM

BP-20-1952
BUC-20-6
SGN-20-5
BUC-20-1
D-19-15
BP-19-158
C18-014

07-27-2020
03-30-2020
03-03-2020
02-24-2020
06-21-2019
06-19-2019
03-20-2018

ET
MO
MO
ET
MO
MO
MO

40
53
53
14
53
68
53

BUILDING PERMIT RECORD

LAND LINE VALUATION SECTION

S Adj Adj UnitPric LandValueAdjSTICFacto

Permit ID

D Front Depth IFacto SpecialPricingNotesAdj

1,278,900

B UseC Zone

1
1
1
1

3230
3230
3230
3230

C-1
C-1
C-1
C-1

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

43,560
11.000
0.500
2.320

3.67
150,000
150,000

7,500

8.000
8.000
8.000
1.000

A
0
0
0

1.000
1.000
1.000
1.000

AcreD

1.00
1.00
0.50
1.00

1.00
1.00
1.00
1.00

SITE
SITE/SIZE
EXCESS
EXCESS TOPO

0
0
0
0

08-20-2020
04-16-2020
04-01-2020
03-26-2020
12-19-2019
09-30-2019
02-11-2019

29.36
1,200,000

600,000
7,500

1,278,900
13,200,000

300,000
17,400

Level

Description

CURRENT OWNER

SALE PRICEV/IQ/U

U
U
U
Q

Property Location
Vision ID

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Total

Total Land Value

STRT / ROAD

24,417,000
14,200,000

0
1,000

0

VC

VISIT / CHANGE HISTORY
Purpose / ResultDate CompInsp Date

NBHD / SUB

S A

KO
KO

Sec #

I
I
I
V

1.000
1.000
1.000
1.000

SHOPNGMALL
SHOPNGMALL
SHOPNGMALL
SHOPNGMALL

UseDescription Units

SF
AC
AC
AC

Total Card Land Units

TIDEWATER OUTLET MALL 100670

OLD NAVY/KATE SPADE

SKETCHERS

TOMMY HILFINGER

CLARK/COLUMBIA/TUMI

PITCHED ROOF FACADE

BUC-20-1= NS- CHECK FALL 2020

+MANAGEMENT OFFICE IN REAR

20,309,800 20,309,800

20,309,800

Alt ID
Sub-div
Flood Zon
Overlay Zo
TIF 2010 T
ADU appro

TIF
Last TG R
Date next  
Last Farm 
Condo Ass

ASSOC PID#Gis ID

21 11 7/13/2021 11:59:15 A

4513

TotalTotalTotal 20309800 20309800 18643900

AssessedCod
2020
Year

3230
3230

5,513,500
14,796,300

AssessedType
2020
Year

3230
3230

5,513,500
14,796,300

AssessedCode
2019
Year

3230
3230
3230

6,477,300
11,893,700

272,900

KITTERY, ME

UnitPrice

INDIANAPOLIS IN 46206

F/C KITTERY DEVELOPMENT LLC

JOHN AUZO MANAGER

PO BOX 6120

F/C KITTERY DEVELOPMENT LLC
OUTLET VILLAGE OF KITTERY LTD
GAGNER FAMILY LIMITED PART
GAGNER, TERRY & JANET (LAND)
GAGNER, TERRY L & JANET A

14.8200 A



2969
47/ 4/ / / 3230

47/4 Bldg # 1 Sec # 1 of Card # of

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
Desctiption Desctiption

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL (CONTINUED)

Regnl Shop Cnt
Ind/Com Open

Element

Description Percentage
MIXED USE

Cost Trend Factor

Dep % Ovr
Dep Ovr Comment
Misc Imp Ovr
Misc Imp Ovr Comment
Cost to Cure Ovr
Cost to Cure Ovr Comment

Element

Code

L/B Units Unit Price Yr Gd Dp RtDescription Su Sub Desc Cd %Cd Apr Value
OB - OUTBUILDING & YARD ITEMS(L) / XF - BUILDING EXTRA FEATURES(B)

BUILDING SUB-AREA SUMMARY SECTION
Living Area Eff AreaGross Area Undeprec ValueDescription Unit CostCode

COST / MARKET VALUATION

2002

64
2,218,400

Code
SPR1
PAV1
LT9
LT10

SPRINKLER
PAVING-ASP
HGH PRE-S
W/DOUBLE 
FOUNDATIO

B
L
L
L
L

42,4
200,

5
18

5,81

2.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

199
199
199
199
199

44,300
211,200

6,200
33,700
21,800

Good

Vinyl Siding

Flat

Concr-Finished
Carpet

CEIL & WALLS

375 US ROUTE 1  Property Location
Vision ID Account #

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Ttl Gross Liv / Lease Area

64
60
60
60
75

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
1.00

BAS
CAN

First Floor
Canopy

40,736
0

40,736
2,604

40,736
521

3230 SHOPNGMALL 100
0
0

Style

Grade

Exterior Wall 1
Exterior Wall 2
Roof Structure

T&G/RubberRoof Cover
Drywall/SheetInterior Wall 1

Interior Wall 2
Interior Floor 1
Interior Floor 2

GasHeating Fuel
Forced Air-DucHeating Type
CentralAC Type

SHOPNGMALLPrim Bldg Use
Total Rooms
Total Bedrms
Total Baths

HEAT/AC PKGSHeat/AC
Frame Type WOOD FRAME

AVERAGEBaths/Plumbing
Ceiling/Wall

AVERAGERooms/Prtns
-1.3000

Model

1984
3,466,252RCN

AYB
Effective Year Built

GDepreciation Code
Remodel Rating
Year Remodeled

36Depreciation %
0Functional Obsol
0Economic Obsol

Condition

RCNLD

1 2Car 7/13/2021 11:59:16 A

1.63
1.76

2080.00
3120.00

5.00

40,736 41,25743,340

% Complete

Occupancy

Cd

Stories:

15
96
06
1
3.00
25

01
04
05

03
14
03
04
03

3230

00
0

01
02
02
06
02
12.00
0.00

Cd

Net Other Adj
Bldg Replace Cost
Adj Base Rate 63.17



2969
47/ 4/ / / 3230

Account # 47/4 Bldg # 2 of Card # of

UTILITIESTOPO LOCATION CURRENT ASSESSMENT
Code Appraised Value Assessed Value

Total

Description
COMMERC.
COM LAND

3230
3230

5,513,500
14,796,300

5,513,500
14,796,300

1 1 All Public 1 Paved 4 Bus. District

MALL - TIDEWATER O

2969

375 US ROUTE 1  

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

BK-VOL/PAGE SALE DATE PREVIOUS ASSESSMENTS (HISTORY)

OZ-SL

10381
8497
7975
6051
3069

81
296
44
49
179

12-22-2000
10-29-1997
08-28-1996
04-14-1992
04-15-1983

1
1

1A
00

RECORD OF OWNERSHIP

Type DescriptionAmount AmountCode
This signature acknowledges a visit by a Data Collector or AssessorOTHER ASSESSMENTS

APPRAISED VALUE SUMMARY

EXEMPTIONS
Year

NBHD Name Street Index Name Tracing Batch
0001

ASSESSING NEIGHBORHOOD

Net Total Appraised Parcel Value

Appraised Land Value (Bldg)

Appraised XF (B) Value (Bldg)

Appraised OB (L) Value (Bldg)

Special Land Value

Appraised Bldg. Value (Card) 5,137,400

103,200

272,900

14,796,300

Total Appraised Parcel Value 20,309,800

Valuation Method

Adjustment

Total Exemptions

C

0

NOTES

Number Comm. Int.

Issue Date DescriptionType Amount % Comp Comments Date IS ID CDType
BUILDING PERMIT RECORD

LAND LINE VALUATION SECTION

S Adj Adj UnitPric LandValueAdjSTICFacto

Permit ID

D Front Depth IFacto SpecialPricingNotesAdj

0

B UseC Zone

2 3230 C-1 0 0 0.000 1 1.000 0 1.000

AcreD

1.00 1.00 0 1 0

Level

Description

CURRENT OWNER

SALE PRICEV/IQ/U

U
U
U
Q

Property Location
Vision ID

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Total

Total Land Value

STRT / ROAD

24,417,000
14,200,000

0
1,000

0

VC

VISIT / CHANGE HISTORY
Purpose / ResultDate CompInsp Date

NBHD / SUB

S A

Sec #

I
I
I
V

1.000SHOPNGMALL

UseDescription Units

AC

Total Card Land Units

TIDEWATER MALL

HANNA ANDERSON/COACH/TUMI

COLUMBIA/CLARK'S BOSTONIAN

CHICOS/ADIDAS

20,309,800 20,309,800

20,309,800

Alt ID
Sub-div
Flood Zon
Overlay Zo
TIF 2010 T
ADU appro

TIF
Last TG R
Date next  
Last Farm 
Condo Ass

ASSOC PID#Gis ID

21 21 7/13/2021 11:59:16 A

4513

TotalTotalTotal 20309800 20309800 18643900

AssessedCod
2020
Year

3230
3230

5,513,500
14,796,300

AssessedType
2020
Year

3230
3230

5,513,500
14,796,300

AssessedCode
2019
Year

3230
3230
3230

6,477,300
11,893,700

272,900

KITTERY, ME

UnitPrice

INDIANAPOLIS IN 46206

F/C KITTERY DEVELOPMENT LLC

JOHN AUZO MANAGER

PO BOX 6120

F/C KITTERY DEVELOPMENT LLC
OUTLET VILLAGE OF KITTERY LTD
GAGNER FAMILY LIMITED PART
GAGNER, TERRY & JANET (LAND)
GAGNER, TERRY L & JANET A

14.8200 A



2969
47/ 4/ / / 3230

47/4 Bldg # 2 Sec # 1 of Card # of

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
Desctiption Desctiption

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL (CONTINUED)

Regnl Shop Cnt
Ind/Com Open

Element

Description Percentage
MIXED USE

Cost Trend Factor

Dep % Ovr
Dep Ovr Comment
Misc Imp Ovr
Misc Imp Ovr Comment
Cost to Cure Ovr
Cost to Cure Ovr Comment

Element

Code

L/B Units Unit Price Yr Gd Dp RtDescription Su Sub Desc Cd %Cd Apr Value
OB - OUTBUILDING & YARD ITEMS(L) / XF - BUILDING EXTRA FEATURES(B)

BUILDING SUB-AREA SUMMARY SECTION
Living Area Eff AreaGross Area Undeprec ValueDescription Unit CostCode

COST / MARKET VALUATION

2004

68
2,919,000

Code
SPR1 SPRINKLER B 53,1 2.00199 58,900

Good

Vinyl Siding

Flat

Carpet

SUS-CEIL & WL

375 US ROUTE 1  Property Location
Vision ID Account #

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Ttl Gross Liv / Lease Area

68 0.00

BAS
CAN

First Floor
Canopy

50,966
0

50,966
3,500

50,966
700

0.00
0.00

3230 SHOPNGMALL 100
0
0

Style

Grade

Exterior Wall 1
Exterior Wall 2
Roof Structure

T&G/RubberRoof Cover
Drywall/SheetInterior Wall 1

Interior Wall 2
Interior Floor 1
Interior Floor 2

GasHeating Fuel
Forced Air-DucHeating Type
CentralAC Type

SHOPNGMALLPrim Bldg Use
Total Rooms
Total Bedrms
Total Baths

HEAT/AC PKGSHeat/AC
Frame Type WOOD FRAME

AVERAGEBaths/Plumbing
Ceiling/Wall

AVERAGERooms/Prtns
-1.3000

Model

1990
4,292,675RCN

AYB
Effective Year Built

GDepreciation Code
Remodel Rating
Year Remodeled

32Depreciation %
0Functional Obsol
0Economic Obsol

Condition

RCNLD

1 2Car 7/13/2021 11:59:17 A

1.63

50,966 51,66654,466

% Complete

Occupancy

Cd

Stories:

15
96
06
1
11.00
25

01
04
05

14

03
04
03

3230

00
0

01
02
02
05
02
12.00
0.00

Cd

Net Other Adj
Bldg Replace Cost
Adj Base Rate 62.47



2601
38/ 13/A / / 3230

Account # 38/13A Bldg # 1 of Card # of

UTILITIESTOPO LOCATION CURRENT ASSESSMENT

4
Code Appraised Value Assessed Value

Total

Description
COMMERC.
COM LAND

3230
3230

1,003,800
3,692,100

1,003,800
3,692,100

1 1
Rolling

All Public 1 Paved 4
7

Bus. District
Waterfront

MALL - MANUFACTUR

4510100

2601

318 US ROUTE 1

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

BK-VOL/PAGE SALE DATE PREVIOUS ASSESSMENTS (HISTORY)

OZ-SL

10381
8497
7975
4550

81
301
42
159

12-22-2000
10-29-1997
08-28-1996
12-04-1987

1
00
1A

RECORD OF OWNERSHIP

Type DescriptionAmount AmountCode
This signature acknowledges a visit by a Data Collector or AssessorOTHER ASSESSMENTS

APPRAISED VALUE SUMMARY

EXEMPTIONS
Year

NBHD Name Street Index Name Tracing Batch
0001

ASSESSING NEIGHBORHOOD

Net Total Appraised Parcel Value

Appraised Land Value (Bldg)

Appraised XF (B) Value (Bldg)

Appraised OB (L) Value (Bldg)

Special Land Value

Appraised Bldg. Value (Card) 961,000

0

42,800

3,692,100

Total Appraised Parcel Value 4,695,900

Valuation Method

Adjustment

Total Exemptions

C

0

NOTES

Number Comm. Int.

Issue Date DescriptionType Amount % Comp Comments Date IS ID CDType
BREWERY-BUS. US
2 BM SGNS
1 FS SGN, 1 BM SG
REPLACE GAS/ECT  
COMMERCIAL REFI
REPLACE RTU
NEW FLOOR LAYO

05-21-2020

04-16-2015
05-09-2013

0
0

100
100
100
100
100

04-16-2020
04-01-2020
11-06-2017
06-13-2016

100,000

15,000
315,000

9,000
75,000

Electric
Remodel
Commercial
Commercial

CM
CM
CM
EL
RE
CM
CM

BUC-20-5
SGN-20-8
SGN-19-31
C16-068
C16-007
15-060
13-073

04-09-2020
03-23-2020
11-09-2016
11-09-2016
02-18-2016
03-31-2015
04-25-2013

ET
MO
MO
ET
MO
MO
PP

40
53
53
14
70
53
53

BUILDING PERMIT RECORD

LAND LINE VALUATION SECTION

S Adj Adj UnitPric LandValueAdjSTICFacto

Permit ID

D Front Depth IFacto SpecialPricingNotesAdj

1,278,900

B UseC Zone

1
1
1

3230
3230
3230

C-1
C-3
C-3

0
0
0

0
0
0

43,560
2.000
0.220

3.67
150,000

7,500

8.000
8.000
8.000

A
0
0

1.000
1.000
1.000

AcreD

1.00
1.00
1.00

1.00
1.00
1.00

SITE
SITE
EXCESS

0
0
0

08-20-2020
04-16-2020
04-01-2020
03-26-2020
09-23-2019
11-06-2017
04-20-2017

29.36
1,200,000

60,000

1,278,900
2,400,000

13,200

Level

Description

CURRENT OWNER

SALE PRICEV/IQ/U

U
Q
U
U

Property Location
Vision ID

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Total

Total Land Value

STRT / ROAD

24,417,000
4,600,000

0
0

VC

VISIT / CHANGE HISTORY
Purpose / ResultDate CompInsp Date

NBHD / SUB

S A

KO
KO

Sec #

I
I
I
I

1.000
1.000
1.000

SHOPNGMALL
SHOPNGMALL
SHOPNGMALL

UseDescription Units

SF
AC
AC

Total Card Land Units

EXPRESS

CANDLE

SAUCONY/ECCO CLEARANCE

MANUFACTURERS OUTLET MALL

ZBA 5/14/02  ZBA 8/27/02

4.20- SGN 20-8 NS

4,695,900 4,695,900

4,695,900

Alt ID
Sub-div
Flood Zon
Overlay Zo
TIF 2010 T
ADU appro

TIF
Last TG R
Date next  
Last Farm 
Condo Ass

ASSOC PID#Gis ID

11 11 7/13/2021 12:04:18 P

4513

TotalTotalTotal 4695900 4695900 4415000

AssessedCod
2020
Year

3230
3230

1,003,800
3,692,100

AssessedType
2020
Year

3230
3230

1,003,800
3,692,100

AssessedCode
2019
Year

3230
3230
3230

1,164,700
3,207,500

42,800

KITTERY, ME

UnitPrice

INDIANAPOLIS IN 46206

F/C KITTERY DEVELOPMENT LLC

JOHN AUZO MANAGER

PO BOX 6120

F/C KITTERY DEVELOPMENT LLC
OUTLET VILLAGE OF KITTERY LTD
GAGNER FAMILY LIMITED PART
GAGNER, TERRY L & JANET A

3.2200 A



2601
38/ 13/A / / 3230

38/13A Bldg # 1 Sec # 1 of Card # of

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
Desctiption Desctiption

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL (CONTINUED)

Regnl Shop Cnt
Ind/Com Open

Element

Description Percentage
MIXED USE

Cost Trend Factor

Dep % Ovr
Dep Ovr Comment
Misc Imp Ovr
Misc Imp Ovr Comment
Cost to Cure Ovr
Cost to Cure Ovr Comment

Element

Code

L/B Units Unit Price Yr Gd Dp RtDescription Su Sub Desc Cd %Cd Apr Value
OB - OUTBUILDING & YARD ITEMS(L) / XF - BUILDING EXTRA FEATURES(B)

BUILDING SUB-AREA SUMMARY SECTION
Living Area Eff AreaGross Area Undeprec ValueDescription Unit CostCode

COST / MARKET VALUATION

2002

64
961,000

Code
PAV1
LT1

PAVING-ASP
LIGHTS-IN  

L
L

40,0
1

0.00
0.00

199
199

42,200
600

Average +20

Vinyl Siding

Gable/Hip

Carpet

SUS-CEIL & WL

318 US ROUTE 1Property Location
Vision ID Account #

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Ttl Gross Liv / Lease Area

60
60

0.00
0.00

BAS
CAN
FOP
URB

First Floor
Canopy
Porch, Open, Finished
Basmnt,Raised,Unfinished

18,025
0
0
0

18,025
234

1,052
858

18,025
47

263
300

3230 SHOPNGMALL 100
0
0

Style

Grade

Exterior Wall 1
Exterior Wall 2
Roof Structure

Asph/F Gls/CmpRoof Cover
Drywall/SheetInterior Wall 1

Interior Wall 2
Interior Floor 1
Interior Floor 2

GasHeating Fuel
Forced Air-DucHeating Type
CentralAC Type

SHOPNGMALLPrim Bldg Use
Total Rooms
Total Bedrms
Total Baths

HEAT/AC PKGSHeat/AC
Frame Type WOOD FRAME

AVERAGEBaths/Plumbing
Ceiling/Wall

AVERAGERooms/Prtns
-1.3000

Model

1983
1,501,495RCN

AYB
Effective Year Built

GDepreciation Code
Remodel Rating
Year Remodeled

36Depreciation %
0Functional Obsol
0Economic Obsol

Condition

RCNLD

1 1Car 7/13/2021 12:04:19 P

1.76
1040.00

18,025 18,63520,169

% Complete

Occupancy

Cd

Stories:

15
96
05
1
5.00
25

03
03
05

14

03
04
03

3230

00
0

01
02
02
05
02
12.00
0.00

Cd

Net Other Adj
Bldg Replace Cost
Adj Base Rate 66.59



2606
38/ 14/ / / 3230

Account # 38/14 Bldg # 1 of Card # of

UTILITIESTOPO LOCATION CURRENT ASSESSMENT
Code Appraised Value Assessed Value

Total

Description
COMMERC.
COM LAND

3230
3230

1,645,500
4,488,900

1,645,500
4,488,900

1 1 All Public 1 Paved 4
7

Bus. District
Waterfront

MALL - KITTERY OUT

2606

294 US ROUTE 1  

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

BK-VOL/PAGE SALE DATE PREVIOUS ASSESSMENTS (HISTORY)

OZ-SL

9013
5023

150
33-6

07-28-1998
12-09-1988

1B
1B

RECORD OF OWNERSHIP

Type DescriptionAmount AmountCode
This signature acknowledges a visit by a Data Collector or AssessorOTHER ASSESSMENTS

APPRAISED VALUE SUMMARY

EXEMPTIONS
Year

NBHD Name Street Index Name Tracing Batch
0001

ASSESSING NEIGHBORHOOD

Net Total Appraised Parcel Value

Appraised Land Value (Bldg)

Appraised XF (B) Value (Bldg)

Appraised OB (L) Value (Bldg)

Special Land Value

Appraised Bldg. Value (Card) 1,562,400

30,300

52,800

4,488,900

Total Appraised Parcel Value 6,134,400

Valuation Method

Adjustment

Total Exemptions

C

0

NOTES

Number Comm. Int.

Issue Date DescriptionType Amount % Comp Comments Date IS ID CDType
Crew Cuts - Fitup
Internal - Swarovski
Swarovski - Fitup
Swarovski - Fitup
Internal
Ralph Lauren - Fitup
Anne Klein fitup

11-01-2010

05-12-2009
07-08-2008

02-17-2006
03-17-2005

100
100
100
100
100
100
100

05-14-2011175,000

90,000
0

100,000
35,000

Commercial
Plumbing
Commercial
Commercial
Plumbing
Commercial
Commercial

CM
PL
CM
CM
PL
CM
CM

10-286
3712
09-040
08-244
3308
05-133
05-024

09-08-2010
05-04-2009
03-03-2009
07-08-2008
03-06-2006
05-16-2005
02-03-2005

ET
ET
MO
ST
PR
PR
BK

40
14
70
68
53
53
53

BUILDING PERMIT RECORD

LAND LINE VALUATION SECTION

S Adj Adj UnitPric LandValueAdjSTICFacto

Permit ID

D Front Depth IFacto SpecialPricingNotesAdj

1,278,900

B UseC Zone

1
1
1

3230
3230
3230

C-1
C-1
C-1

0
0
0

0
0
0

43,560
2.500
3.500

3.67
150,000

7,500

8.000
8.000
8.000

A
0
0

1.000
1.000
1.000

AcreD

1.00
1.00
1.00

1.00
1.00
1.00

SITE
SITE
EXCESS

0
0
0

08-20-2020
03-26-2020
09-23-2019
05-15-2013
05-14-2011
06-19-2010
06-06-2002

29.36
1,200,000

60,000

1,278,900
3,000,000

210,000

02

Level

Description

CURRENT OWNER

SALE PRICEV/IQ/U

U
U

Property Location
Vision ID

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Total

Total Land Value

STRT / ROAD

500,000

VC

VISIT / CHANGE HISTORY
Purpose / ResultDate CompInsp Date

NBHD / SUB

S A

KO
KO

Sec #

I
V

Field Review
Bldg Permit Inspection
Bldg Permit Inspection
Bldg Permit Inspection

1.000
1.000
1.000

SHOPNGMALL
SHOPNGMALL
SHOPNGMALL

UseDescription Units

SF
AC
AC

Total Card Land Units

KITTERY OUTLET VILLAGE

BLDING ANGLED

CHELSEA GCA REALTY LEASES

LAND & OWNS BUILDING

POLO, SWAROVSK- BLDG1

CALVIN KLIEN, CREWCUTE, JCREW BLDG2

6,134,400 6,134,400

6,134,400

Alt ID
Sub-div
Flood Zon
Overlay Zo
TIF 2010 T
ADU appro

TIF
Last TG R
Date next  
Last Farm 
Condo Ass

ASSOC PID#Gis ID

21 11 7/13/2021 12:05:51 P

4513

TotalTotalTotal 6134400 6134400 5855700

AssessedCod
2020
Year

3230
3230

1,645,500
4,488,900

AssessedType
2020
Year

3230
3230

1,645,500
4,488,900

AssessedCode
2019
Year

3230
3230
3230

1,866,600
3,936,300

52,800

KITTERY, ME

UnitPrice

INDIANAPOLIS IN 46206

RIPLEY ROAD ASSOCIATES LLC

JOHN AUZO MANAGER

PO BOX 6120

RIPLEY ROAD ASSOCIATES LLC
RIPLEY ROAD ASSOCIATES

7.0000 A



2606
38/ 14/ / / 3230

38/14 Bldg # 1 Sec # 1 of Card # of

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
Desctiption Desctiption

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL (CONTINUED)

Regnl Shop Cnt
Ind/Com Open

Element

Description Percentage
MIXED USE

Cost Trend Factor

Dep % Ovr
Dep Ovr Comment
Misc Imp Ovr
Misc Imp Ovr Comment
Cost to Cure Ovr
Cost to Cure Ovr Comment

Element

Code

L/B Units Unit Price Yr Gd Dp RtDescription Su Sub Desc Cd %Cd Apr Value
OB - OUTBUILDING & YARD ITEMS(L) / XF - BUILDING EXTRA FEATURES(B)

BUILDING SUB-AREA SUMMARY SECTION
Living Area Eff AreaGross Area Undeprec ValueDescription Unit CostCode

COST / MARKET VALUATION

2003

66
800,100

Code
SPR1
PAV1

SPRINKLER
PAVING-ASP

B
L

14,7
50,0

2.00
0.00

199
199

15,800
52,800

Good

Vinyl Siding

Gable/Hip

Carpet

SUS-CEIL & WL

294 US ROUTE 1  Property Location
Vision ID Account #

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Ttl Gross Liv / Lease Area

66
60

0.00
0.00

BAS
FOP

First Floor
Porch, Open, Finished

13,020
0

13,020
1,680

13,020
420

3230 SHOPNGMALL 100
0
0

Style

Grade

Exterior Wall 1
Exterior Wall 2
Roof Structure

Asph/F Gls/CmpRoof Cover
Drywall/SheetInterior Wall 1

Interior Wall 2
Interior Floor 1
Interior Floor 2

GasHeating Fuel
Forced Air-DucHeating Type
Heat PumpAC Type

SHOPNGMALLPrim Bldg Use
Total Rooms
Total Bedrms
Total Baths

HEAT/AC PKGSHeat/AC
Frame Type WOOD FRAME

AVERAGEBaths/Plumbing
Ceiling/Wall

AVERAGERooms/Prtns
-1.3000

Model

1989
1,212,296RCN

AYB
Effective Year Built

GDepreciation Code
Remodel Rating
Year Remodeled

34Depreciation %
0Functional Obsol
0Economic Obsol

Condition

RCNLD

1 2Car 7/13/2021 12:05:52 P

1.63
1.76

13,020 13,44014,700

% Complete

Occupancy

Cd

Stories:

15
96
06
1
3.00
25

03
03
05

14

03
04
02

3230

00
0

01
02
02
05
02
12.00
0.00

Cd

Net Other Adj
Bldg Replace Cost
Adj Base Rate 67.82



2606
38/ 14/ / / 3230

Account # 38/14 Bldg # 2 of Card # of

UTILITIESTOPO LOCATION CURRENT ASSESSMENT
Code Appraised Value Assessed Value

Total

Description
COMMERC.
COM LAND

3230
3230

1,645,500
4,488,900

1,645,500
4,488,900

1 1 All Public 1 Paved 4
7

Bus. District
Waterfront

MALL - KITTERY OUT

2606

294 US ROUTE 1  

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

BK-VOL/PAGE SALE DATE PREVIOUS ASSESSMENTS (HISTORY)

OZ-SL

9013
5023

150
33-6

07-28-1998
12-09-1988

1B
1B

RECORD OF OWNERSHIP

Type DescriptionAmount AmountCode
This signature acknowledges a visit by a Data Collector or AssessorOTHER ASSESSMENTS

APPRAISED VALUE SUMMARY

EXEMPTIONS
Year

NBHD Name Street Index Name Tracing Batch
0001

ASSESSING NEIGHBORHOOD

Net Total Appraised Parcel Value

Appraised Land Value (Bldg)

Appraised XF (B) Value (Bldg)

Appraised OB (L) Value (Bldg)

Special Land Value

Appraised Bldg. Value (Card) 1,562,400

30,300

52,800

4,488,900

Total Appraised Parcel Value 6,134,400

Valuation Method

Adjustment

Total Exemptions

C

0

NOTES

Number Comm. Int.

Issue Date DescriptionType Amount % Comp Comments Date IS ID CDType
BUILDING PERMIT RECORD

LAND LINE VALUATION SECTION

S Adj Adj UnitPric LandValueAdjSTICFacto

Permit ID

D Front Depth IFacto SpecialPricingNotesAdj

0

B UseC Zone

2 3230 C-1 0 0 1 1 1.000 0 1.000

AcreD

1.00 1.00 0 1 0

Level

Description

CURRENT OWNER

SALE PRICEV/IQ/U

U
U

Property Location
Vision ID

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Total

Total Land Value

STRT / ROAD

500,000

VC

VISIT / CHANGE HISTORY
Purpose / ResultDate CompInsp Date

NBHD / SUB

S A

Sec #

I
V

1.000SHOPNGMALL

UseDescription Units

SF

Total Card Land Units

CRATE + BARREL

BAG MAKERS

ETIENNE AIGNER

CRATE+BARREL=NON SUSPEND

CEILING W/CONCRETE FLRS

6,134,400 6,134,400

6,134,400

Alt ID
Sub-div
Flood Zon
Overlay Zo
TIF 2010 T
ADU appro

TIF
Last TG R
Date next  
Last Farm 
Condo Ass

ASSOC PID#Gis ID

21 21 7/13/2021 12:05:52 P

4513

TotalTotalTotal 6134400 6134400 5855700

AssessedCod
2020
Year

3230
3230

1,645,500
4,488,900

AssessedType
2020
Year

3230
3230

1,645,500
4,488,900

AssessedCode
2019
Year

3230
3230
3230

1,866,600
3,936,300

52,800

KITTERY, ME

UnitPrice

INDIANAPOLIS IN 46206

RIPLEY ROAD ASSOCIATES LLC

JOHN AUZO MANAGER

PO BOX 6120

RIPLEY ROAD ASSOCIATES LLC
RIPLEY ROAD ASSOCIATES

7.0000 A



2606
38/ 14/ / / 3230

38/14 Bldg # 2 Sec # 1 of Card # of

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
Desctiption Desctiption

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL (CONTINUED)

Regnl Shop Cnt
Ind/Com Open

Element

Description Percentage
MIXED USE

Cost Trend Factor

Dep % Ovr
Dep Ovr Comment
Misc Imp Ovr
Misc Imp Ovr Comment
Cost to Cure Ovr
Cost to Cure Ovr Comment

Element

Code

L/B Units Unit Price Yr Gd Dp RtDescription Su Sub Desc Cd %Cd Apr Value
OB - OUTBUILDING & YARD ITEMS(L) / XF - BUILDING EXTRA FEATURES(B)

BUILDING SUB-AREA SUMMARY SECTION
Living Area Eff AreaGross Area Undeprec ValueDescription Unit CostCode

COST / MARKET VALUATION

2003

66
762,300

Code
SPR1 SPRINKLER B 13,4 2.00199 14,500

Good

Vinyl Siding

Gable/Hip

Carpet
Concr-Finished

SUS-CEIL & WL

294 US ROUTE 1  Property Location
Vision ID Account #

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Ttl Gross Liv / Lease Area

66 0.00

BAS
FOP

First Floor
Porch, Open, Finished

12,408
0

12,408
1,056

12,408
264

3230 SHOPNGMALL 100
0
0

Style

Grade

Exterior Wall 1
Exterior Wall 2
Roof Structure

Asph/F Gls/CmpRoof Cover
Drywall/SheetInterior Wall 1

Interior Wall 2
Interior Floor 1
Interior Floor 2

GasHeating Fuel
Forced Air-DucHeating Type
Heat PumpAC Type

SHOPNGMALLPrim Bldg Use
Total Rooms
Total Bedrms
Total Baths

HEAT/AC PKGSHeat/AC
Frame Type WOOD FRAME

AVERAGEBaths/Plumbing
Ceiling/Wall

AVERAGERooms/Prtns
-1.3000

Model

1989
1,154,988RCN

AYB
Effective Year Built

GDepreciation Code
Remodel Rating
Year Remodeled

34Depreciation %
0Functional Obsol
0Economic Obsol

Condition

RCNLD

1 2Car 7/13/2021 12:05:53 P

1.63

12,408 12,67213,464

% Complete

Occupancy

Cd

Stories:

15
96
06
1
3.00
25

03
03
05

14
03
03
04
02

3230

00
0

01
02
02
05
02
12.00
0.00

Cd

Net Other Adj
Bldg Replace Cost
Adj Base Rate 68.53



2965
47/ 1/ / / MAINE OUTLET MALL 3230

Account # 47/1 Bldg # 1 of Card # of

UTILITIESTOPO LOCATION CURRENT ASSESSMENT
Code Appraised Value Assessed Value

Total

Description
COMMERC.
COM LAND

3230
3230

5,860,000
20,193,900

5,860,000
20,193,900

1 1 All Public 1 Paved 4 Bus. District

MALL - MAINE OUTLE

2965

345 US ROUTE 1  

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

BK-VOL/PAGE SALE DATE PREVIOUS ASSESSMENTS (HISTORY)

15116
6051
3439

946
42
2

03-25-2007
04-14-1992
12-31-1984

00
00

RECORD OF OWNERSHIP

Type DescriptionAmount AmountCode
This signature acknowledges a visit by a Data Collector or AssessorOTHER ASSESSMENTS

APPRAISED VALUE SUMMARY

EXEMPTIONS
Year

NBHD Name Street Index Name Tracing Batch
0001

ASSESSING NEIGHBORHOOD

Net Total Appraised Parcel Value

Appraised Land Value (Bldg)

Appraised XF (B) Value (Bldg)

Appraised OB (L) Value (Bldg)

Special Land Value

Appraised Bldg. Value (Card) 5,480,400

120,600

259,000

20,193,900

Total Appraised Parcel Value 26,053,900

Valuation Method

Adjustment

Total Exemptions

C

0

NOTES

Number Comm. Int.

Issue Date DescriptionType Amount % Comp Comments Date IS ID CDType
LUGG. LOFT RELO
REPL ROOFTOP U
1 SIGN, BUILD MOU
SIGN PERMIT FOR  
RE TOWER EXT
ROOF TOP UNIT FE
REFIT FOR MAINEL12-18-2018

0
0
0

100
100
100
100

09-30-2019
09-30-2019
04-10-2019
02-12-2019

0
20,980

140,000
14,232

Commercial Fit Up
Commerical
Commercial Fit Up

FT
CM
FT
FT
CM
CM
CM

BUC-20-10
BP-20-260
SGN-20-12
SGN-19-26
559
1157
750

01-07-2021
09-22-2020
07-08-2020
12-21-2018
12-21-2018
12-20-2018
10-18-2018

ET
ET
MO
MO
MO
MO
MO

40
14
53
53
53
53
53

BUILDING PERMIT RECORD

LAND LINE VALUATION SECTION

S Adj Adj UnitPric LandValueAdjSTICFacto

Permit ID

D Front Depth IFacto SpecialPricingNotesAdj

1,278,900

B UseC Zone

1
1

3230
3230

C-1
C-1

0
0

0
0

43,560
12.610

3.67
150,000

8.000
8.000

A
0

1.000
1.000

AcreD

1.00
1.25

1.00
1.00 SITE

0
0

08-20-2020
03-26-2020
12-19-2019
09-30-2019
04-10-2019
02-12-2019
10-29-2018

29.36
1,500,000

1,278,900
18,915,000

Level

Description

CURRENT OWNER

SALE PRICEV/IQ/U

Q
Q

Property Location
Vision ID

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Total

Total Land Value

STRT / ROAD

45,200,000
450,000

0

VC

VISIT / CHANGE HISTORY
Purpose / ResultDate CompInsp Date

NBHD / SUB

S A

KO
KO

Sec #

I
V

1.000
1.000

SHOPNGMALL
SHOPNGMALL

UseDescription Units

SF
AC

Total Card Land Units

THE MAINE OUTLET MALL 100550

(AKA KITTERY PREMIUM OUTLET MALL)

LEASE TO MCDONALDS 38/1

47/2 DELETED & COMBINED

2.61AC WITH 47/1 SEE 6051/42  4/14/92

ZBA 11/8/95 ZBA 9/25/07

25 OCC

MIKASA/HILFIGER/TIMBERLND ETC

FREE STANDING BLDG  BAS 813 SF

6-16 NEW BALANCE STORE

10.18- BP-628=60%

26,053,900 26,053,900

26,053,900

Alt ID
Sub-div
Flood Zon
Overlay Zo
TIF 2010 T
ADU appro

TIF
Last TG R
Date next  
Last Farm 
Condo Ass

ASSOC PID#Gis ID

21 11 7/13/2021 12:07:41 P

4513

TotalTotalTotal 26053900 26053900 25822100

AssessedCod
2020
Year

3230
3230

5,860,000
20,193,900

AssessedType
2020
Year

3230
3230

5,860,000
20,193,900

AssessedCode
2019
Year

3230
3230
3230

7,458,900
18,104,200

259,000

KITTERY, ME

UnitPrice

INDIANAPOLIS IN 46206-612

CPG KITTERY HOLDINGS LLC

C/O CHELSEA PROPERTY GROUP

PO BOX 6120

CPG KITTERY HOLDINGS LLC
KITTERY COMM ASSOC LAND COMBIN
KITTERY COMMERCIAL ASSOCIATES

13.6100 A



2965
47/ 1/ / / MAINE OUTLET MALL 3230

47/1 Bldg # 1 Sec # 1 of Card # of

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
Desctiption Desctiption

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL (CONTINUED)

Regnl Shop Cnt
Ind/Com Open

Element

Description Percentage
MIXED USE

Cost Trend Factor

Dep % Ovr
Dep Ovr Comment
Misc Imp Ovr
Misc Imp Ovr Comment
Cost to Cure Ovr
Cost to Cure Ovr Comment

Element

Code

L/B Units Unit Price Yr Gd Dp RtDescription Su Sub Desc Cd %Cd Apr Value
OB - OUTBUILDING & YARD ITEMS(L) / XF - BUILDING EXTRA FEATURES(B)

BUILDING SUB-AREA SUMMARY SECTION
Living Area Eff AreaGross Area Undeprec ValueDescription Unit CostCode

COST / MARKET VALUATION

2002

64
4,078,400

Code
SPR1
NDP
PAV1
LT1
LT10
LT12

SPRINKLER
NITE DEPOS
PAVING-ASP
LIGHTS-IN  
W/DOUBLE 
W/FOUR LIG

B
B
L
L
L
L

82,6
1

200,
3

14
6

2.00
2.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

199
199
199
199
199
199

86,200
5,000

211,200
1,900

26,200
19,700

Average +20

Pre-Fab Wood
Concr/Cinder
Flat

Carpet

SUS-CEIL & WL

345 US ROUTE 1  Property Location
Vision ID Account #

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Ttl Gross Liv / Lease Area

64
64
60
60
60
60

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

BAS
CAN

First Floor
Canopy

84,273
0

84,273
16,848

84,273
3,370

3230 SHOPNGMALL 100
0
0

Style

Grade

Exterior Wall 1
Exterior Wall 2
Roof Structure

T&G/RubberRoof Cover
Drywall/SheetInterior Wall 1

Interior Wall 2
Interior Floor 1
Interior Floor 2

ElectricHeating Fuel
Forced Air-DucHeating Type
Heat PumpAC Type

SHOPNGMALLPrim Bldg Use
Total Rooms
Total Bedrms
Total Baths

HEAT/AC PKGSHeat/AC
Frame Type MASONRY

AVERAGEBaths/Plumbing
Ceiling/Wall

AVERAGERooms/Prtns
-1.3000

Model

1983
6,372,426RCN

AYB
Effective Year Built

GDepreciation Code
Remodel Rating
Year Remodeled

36Depreciation %
0Functional Obsol
0Economic Obsol

Condition

RCNLD

1 2Car 7/13/2021 12:07:42 P

1.63
7800.00

1.76
1040.00
3120.00
5460.00

84,273 87,643101,121

% Complete

Occupancy

Cd

Stories:

15
96
05
1
25.00
13
15
01
04
05

14

04
04
02

3230

00
0

01
03
02
05
02
12.00
0.00

Cd

Net Other Adj
Bldg Replace Cost
Adj Base Rate 60.09



2965
47/ 1/ / / MAINE OUTLET MALL 3230

Account # 47/1 Bldg # 2 of Card # of

UTILITIESTOPO LOCATION CURRENT ASSESSMENT
Code Appraised Value Assessed Value

Total

Description
COMMERC.
COM LAND

3230
3230

5,860,000
20,193,900

5,860,000
20,193,900

1 1 All Public 1 Paved 4 Bus. District

MALL - MAINE OUTLE

2965

345 US ROUTE 1  

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

BK-VOL/PAGE SALE DATE PREVIOUS ASSESSMENTS (HISTORY)

15116
6051
3439

946
42
2

03-25-2007
04-14-1992
12-31-1984

00
00

RECORD OF OWNERSHIP

Type DescriptionAmount AmountCode
This signature acknowledges a visit by a Data Collector or AssessorOTHER ASSESSMENTS

APPRAISED VALUE SUMMARY

EXEMPTIONS
Year

NBHD Name Street Index Name Tracing Batch
0001

ASSESSING NEIGHBORHOOD

Net Total Appraised Parcel Value

Appraised Land Value (Bldg)

Appraised XF (B) Value (Bldg)

Appraised OB (L) Value (Bldg)

Special Land Value

Appraised Bldg. Value (Card) 5,480,400

120,600

259,000

20,193,900

Total Appraised Parcel Value 26,053,900

Valuation Method

Adjustment

Total Exemptions

C

0

NOTES

Number Comm. Int.

Issue Date DescriptionType Amount % Comp Comments Date IS ID CDType
BUILDING PERMIT RECORD

LAND LINE VALUATION SECTION

S Adj Adj UnitPric LandValueAdjSTICFacto

Permit ID

D Front Depth IFacto SpecialPricingNotesAdj

0

B UseC Zone

2 3230 C-1 0 0 0 0.01 1.000 0 1.000

AcreD

1.00 1.00 0 0.01 0

Level

Description

CURRENT OWNER

SALE PRICEV/IQ/U

Q
Q

Property Location
Vision ID

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Total

Total Land Value

STRT / ROAD

45,200,000
450,000

0

VC

VISIT / CHANGE HISTORY
Purpose / ResultDate CompInsp Date

NBHD / SUB

S A

Sec #

I
V

1.000SHOPNGMALL

UseDescription Units

SF

Total Card Land Units

REGIONAL SHOPPING CENTER

MAINE OUTLET MALL

DK NY/ARROW/CONVERSE

HOUSEWARE OUTLET ETC

LEFT SIDE OF BLDING

HAS GAS HT

26,053,900 26,053,900

26,053,900

Alt ID
Sub-div
Flood Zon
Overlay Zo
TIF 2010 T
ADU appro

TIF
Last TG R
Date next  
Last Farm 
Condo Ass

ASSOC PID#Gis ID

21 21 7/13/2021 12:07:42 P

4513

TotalTotalTotal 26053900 26053900 25822100

AssessedCod
2020
Year

3230
3230

5,860,000
20,193,900

AssessedType
2020
Year

3230
3230

5,860,000
20,193,900

AssessedCode
2019
Year

3230
3230
3230

7,458,900
18,104,200

259,000

KITTERY, ME

UnitPrice

INDIANAPOLIS IN 46206-612

CPG KITTERY HOLDINGS LLC

C/O CHELSEA PROPERTY GROUP

PO BOX 6120

CPG KITTERY HOLDINGS LLC
KITTERY COMM ASSOC LAND COMBIN
KITTERY COMMERCIAL ASSOCIATES

13.6100 A



2965
47/ 1/ / / MAINE OUTLET MALL 3230

47/1 Bldg # 2 Sec # 1 of Card # of

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
Desctiption Desctiption

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL (CONTINUED)

Regnl Shop Cnt
Ind/Com Open

Element

Description Percentage
MIXED USE

Cost Trend Factor

Dep % Ovr
Dep Ovr Comment
Misc Imp Ovr
Misc Imp Ovr Comment
Cost to Cure Ovr
Cost to Cure Ovr Comment

Element

Code

L/B Units Unit Price Yr Gd Dp RtDescription Su Sub Desc Cd %Cd Apr Value
OB - OUTBUILDING & YARD ITEMS(L) / XF - BUILDING EXTRA FEATURES(B)

BUILDING SUB-AREA SUMMARY SECTION
Living Area Eff AreaGross Area Undeprec ValueDescription Unit CostCode

COST / MARKET VALUATION

2003

66
1,402,000

Code
SPR1 SPRINKLER B 27,3 2.00199 29,400

Average +20

Pre-Fab Wood
Concr/Cinder
Flat

Carpet

SUS-CEIL & WL

345 US ROUTE 1  Property Location
Vision ID Account #

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Ttl Gross Liv / Lease Area

66 0.00

BAS
CAN

First Floor
Canopy

27,300
0

27,300
4,944

27,300
989

3230 SHOPNGMALL 100
0
0

Style

Grade

Exterior Wall 1
Exterior Wall 2
Roof Structure

T&G/RubberRoof Cover
Drywall/SheetInterior Wall 1

Interior Wall 2
Interior Floor 1
Interior Floor 2

ElectricHeating Fuel
Forced Air-DucHeating Type
Heat PumpAC Type

SHOPNGMALLPrim Bldg Use
Total Rooms
Total Bedrms
Total Baths

HEAT/AC PKGSHeat/AC
Frame Type MASONRY

AVERAGEBaths/Plumbing
Ceiling/Wall

AVERAGERooms/Prtns
-1.3000

Model

1987
2,124,295RCN

AYB
Effective Year Built

GDepreciation Code
Remodel Rating
Year Remodeled

34Depreciation %
0Functional Obsol
0Economic Obsol

Condition

RCNLD

1 2Car 7/13/2021 12:07:43 P

1.63

27,300 28,28932,244

% Complete

Occupancy

Cd

Stories:

15
96
05
1
7.00
13
15
01
04
05

14

04
04
02

3230

00
0

01
03
02
05
02
12.00
0.00

Cd

Net Other Adj
Bldg Replace Cost
Adj Base Rate 62.06



2597
38/ 7/ / / 3230

Account # 38/7 Bldg # 1 of Card # of

UTILITIESTOPO LOCATION CURRENT ASSESSMENT
Code Appraised Value Assessed Value

Total

Description
COMMERC.
COM LAND

3230
3230

1,244,800
2,813,800

1,244,800
2,813,800

1 1 All Public 1 Paved 4
7

Bus. District
Waterfront

MALL - FACTORY STO

2597

325 US ROUTE 1

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

BK-VOL/PAGE SALE DATE PREVIOUS ASSESSMENTS (HISTORY)

OZ-SL

11014
9247
7302
6885
4007

213
175
7
52
119

09-25-2001
12-22-1998
12-29-1994
12-28-1993
09-17-1986

00
1B
1B
00
1

RECORD OF OWNERSHIP

Type DescriptionAmount AmountCode
This signature acknowledges a visit by a Data Collector or AssessorOTHER ASSESSMENTS

APPRAISED VALUE SUMMARY

EXEMPTIONS
Year

NBHD Name Street Index Name Tracing Batch
0001

ASSESSING NEIGHBORHOOD

Net Total Appraised Parcel Value

Appraised Land Value (Bldg)

Appraised XF (B) Value (Bldg)

Appraised OB (L) Value (Bldg)

Special Land Value

Appraised Bldg. Value (Card) 1,173,300

27,800

43,700

2,813,800

Total Appraised Parcel Value 4,058,600

Valuation Method

Adjustment

Total Exemptions

C

0

NOTES

Number Comm. Int.

Issue Date DescriptionType Amount % Comp Comments Date IS ID CDType
LHI- RENO GAP FA
COMMERCIAL REN
Levi's Store - Fitup
8'x8' indoor illuminiat
Internal - BANANA R
Internal - GAP
Gap Outlet - Fitup

03-16-2010

11-07-2007

100
100
100
100
100
100
100

02-11-2019
04-06-2013

45,000
11,500

158,000
9,000

412,500

Commercial
Commercial
Commercial
Plumbing
Plumbing
Commercial

CM
CM
CM
CM
PL
PL
CM

384
13-014A
10-010
09-441
3518
3517
07-314

07-26-2018
01-31-2013
01-13-2010
12-03-2009
08-31-2007
08-31-2007
08-28-2007 2

ET
ET
MO
MO
ST
PR
BK

41
14
70
53
68
53
53

BUILDING PERMIT RECORD

LAND LINE VALUATION SECTION

S Adj Adj UnitPric LandValueAdjSTICFacto

Permit ID

D Front Depth IFacto SpecialPricingNotesAdj

959,200

B UseC Zone

1
1
1

3230
3230
3230

C-1
C-1
C-1

0
0
0

0
0
0

43,560
2.000
0.910

3.67
150,000

7,500

8.000
8.000
8.000

A
0
0

1.000
1.000
1.000

AcreD

0.75
0.75
1.00

1.00
1.00
1.00

LIMITED FTG
LIMITED FTG
LIMITED FTG

0
0
0

08-20-2020
03-26-2020
09-23-2019
02-11-2019
05-15-2013
04-06-2013
05-28-2008

22.02
900,000
60,000

959,200
1,800,000

54,600

01

Level

Description

CURRENT OWNER

SALE PRICEV/IQ/U

U
U
U
Q
U

Property Location
Vision ID

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Total

Total Land Value

STRT / ROAD

2,757,386

0
2,780,362

1

VC

VISIT / CHANGE HISTORY
Purpose / ResultDate CompInsp Date

NBHD / SUB

S A

KO
KO

Sec #

I
I
I
I
I

Field Review
Bldg Permit Inspection
Bldg Permit Inspection

1.000
1.000
1.000

SHOPNGMALL
SHOPNGMALL
SHOPNGMALL

UseDescription Units

SF
AC
AC

Total Card Land Units

BANANA REPUBLIC =30%  

GAP= 70% 2008

RENOVATED 2007 OCC 10/07

4,058,600 4,058,600

4,058,600

Alt ID
Sub-div
Flood Zon
Overlay Zo
TIF 2010 T
ADU appro

TIF
Last TG R
Date next  
Last Farm 
Condo Ass

ASSOC PID#Gis ID

11 11 7/13/2021 12:06:47 P

4513

TotalTotalTotal 4058600 4359800 3516600

AssessedCod
2020
Year

3230
3230

1,244,800
2,813,800

AssessedType
2020
Year

3230
3230

1,362,100
2,997,700

AssessedCode
2019
Year

3230
3230
3230

1,198,700
2,274,200

43,700

KITTERY, ME

UnitPrice

INDIANAPOLIS IN 46206

CPG FINANCE II LLC

PO BOX 6120

CPG FINANCE II LLC
KPT REMIC LOAN LLC
FSA PROPERTIES INC
FACTORY STORES OF AMERICA INC
RAH & ASSOCIATES

3.9100 A



2597
38/ 7/ / / 3230

38/7 Bldg # 1 Sec # 1 of Card # of

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
Desctiption Desctiption

CONSTRUCTION DETAIL (CONTINUED)

Regnl Shop Cnt
Ind/Com Open

Element

Description Percentage
MIXED USE

Cost Trend Factor

Dep % Ovr
Dep Ovr Comment
Misc Imp Ovr
Misc Imp Ovr Comment
Cost to Cure Ovr
Cost to Cure Ovr Comment

Element

Code

L/B Units Unit Price Yr Gd Dp RtDescription Su Sub Desc Cd %Cd Apr Value
OB - OUTBUILDING & YARD ITEMS(L) / XF - BUILDING EXTRA FEATURES(B)

BUILDING SUB-AREA SUMMARY SECTION
Living Area Eff AreaGross Area Undeprec ValueDescription Unit CostCode

COST / MARKET VALUATION

2003

66
1,173,300

Code
SPR1
PAV1
LT9

SPRINKLER
PAVING-ASP
HGH PRE-S

B
L
L

25,8
35,0

4

2.00
0.00
0.00

199
199
199

27,800
37,000
6,700

Average +10

Vinyl Siding

Gable/Hip

Concr Abv Grad

SUS-CEIL & WL

325 US ROUTE 1Property Location
Vision ID Account #

Map ID Bldg Name State Use
Print Date

Ttl Gross Liv / Lease Area

66
60
80

0.00
0.00
0.00

BAS
CAN
FOP

First Floor
Canopy
Porch, Open, Finished

22,222
0
0

22,222
168

3,615

22,222
34

904

3230 SHOPNGMALL 100
0
0

Style

Grade

Exterior Wall 1
Exterior Wall 2
Roof Structure

Asph/F Gls/CmpRoof Cover
Drywall/SheetInterior Wall 1

Interior Wall 2
Interior Floor 1
Interior Floor 2

GasHeating Fuel
Forced Air-DucHeating Type
CentralAC Type

SHOPNGMALLPrim Bldg Use
Total Rooms
Total Bedrms
Total Baths

HEAT/AC PKGSHeat/AC
Frame Type WOOD FRAME

AVERAGEBaths/Plumbing
Ceiling/Wall

AVERAGERooms/Prtns
-1.3000

Model

1987
1,777,715RCN

AYB
Effective Year Built

GDepreciation Code
Remodel Rating
Year Remodeled

34Depreciation %
Functional Obsol
Economic Obsol

Condition

RCNLD

1 1Car 7/13/2021 12:06:48 P

1.63
1.76

2080.00

22,222 23,16026,005

% Complete

Occupancy

Cd

Stories:

15
96
04
1
2.00
25

03
03
05

04

03
04
03

3230

00
0

01
02
02
05
02
12.00
0.00

Cd

Net Other Adj
Bldg Replace Cost
Adj Base Rate 69.78















Edward C. Tinker  
351 Post Rd 
Greenland, NH 03840 
Hm: 603-294-0294 I Cell: 603-545-1761 
etinker@mrigov.com 

 
 
 
 
Professional Experience e 

 

Contract Assessor, Municipal Resources, Inc. September 2018 -Present 
 
• Residential/Commercial Contract Assessor for multiple communities including Hampton, Rye, 

Exeter, and Newington.  
 

• Worked on multiple revaluations including Exeter 2019, Newmarket 2019, Hampton 2019, 
Durham 2019, Epping 2020, Fremont 2020, Jaffrey 2020, Dunbarton 2020, Windham 2020 & 
Kittery, Me. 2020.  

 
• Extensive Work with Vision CAMA System 
• Administer Exemptions & Credits 
• Current Use, Land Use Change Tax, Timber & Excavation Activities 
• BTLA, I Court Preparation & Defense 
• Prepare the MS 1, all tax warrants. 
• Extensive public interaction regarding the assessing process 

 

 

 

Chief Assessor, Town of Hampton, NH September 2009 -Present 
 
• Since taking over this position I have reorganized the assessing department 

and completed a 2011 & 2016 revaluation in conjunction with Vision Appraisal. 
 

• Extensive Work with Vision CAMA System 
• Administer Exemptions & Credits 
• Current Use, Land Use Change Tax, Timber & Excavation Activities 
• BTLA I Court Preparation & Defense 
• Prepare the MS 1, all tax warrants 
• Extensive public interaction regarding the assessing process 

 
 
 
 

mailto:etinker@mrigov.com


 

Chief Assessor, City of Claremont, NH September 2007 - September 2009 
 

• With the assistance of staff we completed an in-house revaluation in 2009. 
 

• Extensive Work with Vision CAMA System 
• Administer Exemptions & Credits 
• Current Use, Land Use Change Tax, Timber & Excavation Activities 
• BTLA I Court Preparation & Defense 
• Prepare the MS 1, all tax warrants 
• Extensive public interaction regarding the assessing process 

 
 
 
Planning & Development Director, City of Claremont, NH October 2008 - September 2009 

 
• Oversee a staff of 7, including Planning, Zoning, Building Codes, & Economic Development 
• Planning Board: preparation & presentation 
• Zoning Board of Adju stment: preparation & presentation 
• Boards & Commissions: oversight and assistance 

 
 
 
 
 

District Manager, Avitar Associates of NE, Inc. Chichester, NH June 2002 -August 2007 
• Contract Assessor/ Administrator to Misc. Communities in NH 
• Oversee all Facets of Revaluation Work & Staff, having been involved in approximately 20 

Revaluations and/or Updates 
• Measure & List All Classes of Property 
• Building Permit Work - New Construction & Pick Up Work 
• Sales Analysis & Sales Verification. 
• DRA Sales Ratio Study 
• Report Writing 

 
 
 

Review Appraiser, Cole-Layer-Trumble Co. Tolland, CN January  1999 -June 2002 
• Worked on   numerous   revaluations as   a   review   appraiser   within   New   Hampshire, 

Massachusetts, Connecticut, Pennsylvania, and Nassau  Co. Long Island, N Y. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Education 
• Appraisal Institute - Course 110 
• IAAO Course 101 - Principles in Mass Appraisal 
• IAAO Course 102 - Income Approach to Value 
• IAAO Course 311 - Residential Modeling Concepts 
• IAAO Course 400 - Assessing Administration 
• IAAO Course 257 - Fundamentals of Industrial Valuation 
• New Hampshire State Statutes (2004 & 2010) 
• Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP 2005 & 2007) 

 
Designations 
• Certified New Hampshire Assessor (CNHA #157) 
• NH Dept of Revenue, Certified Assessor Supervisor # 365 
• Member in Good Standing of NHAAO 
• NHAAO -Rockingham County director 
• NHAAO - Legislative Committee 
• NHAAO -Ethics Committee 
• NHAAO -Nominating Committee 
• State of Connecticut Residential &Commercial Valuation Certification (expired) 
2014 -2nd Vice President - NHAAO 
2015 – 1st Vice President -NHAAO 
2016 -President Elect -NHAAO 
2017 - Past President - NHAAO 



1 
 

BOARD OF ASSESSMENT REVIEW                                               UNAPPROVED             
                                                                                                           

KITTERY TOWN HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS            JUNE 23, 2021 

 

1. Call to Order / Attendance 1 

Chair Afienko called the meeting to order at 6:00 P.M. 2 

Members present: Joe Afienko, Chair; William Peirce, Alternate Member; Alan Rindler; 3 
Member; and Kristin Collins, attorney from Preti-Flaherty. 4 

Other people present in roll call, Karen Fortier, Kittery Contract Assessor; Paul 5 
McKenney, Kittery Contract Assessor; and Michael Tremblay.  6 

2. New Business/Public Hearing: Appeal 1, 84 Goodwin Road (Tax Map 58 Lot 61). 7 
Owner/Applicant Michael & Maureen Tremblay requests consideration of an application 8 
of appeal for real property assessment.  9 

Chair Afienko opened the public hearing and requested the property owner to proceed 10 
with his presentation. 11 

Michael Tremblay clarified that the Board has received and reviewed the submitted 12 
application and packet. He added that the three real estate companies did not have the 13 
updated and correct lot size of the property, and that they had it listed as 20% higher. 14 
Mr. Tremblay asked if the Board had any questions.  15 

Mr. Rindler clarified the Assessors will present and then the hearing will be opened for 16 
questions. The Assessors did not have any questions for the applicant at this time. 17 

The Board was asked if they had any questions of the applicant. 18 

Chair Afienko verified the amount of the requested abatement, $301,800.00.  19 

Mr. Tremblay agreed and explained that the land value is so much higher than the 20 
building value, that the lot size adjustment makes a big difference to the value.  21 

Mr. Peirce asked if he received an abatement after the survey performed by Easterly 22 
Surveying showed his property was smaller than the Town had on record. 23 

Mr. Tremblay replied that he did receive a letter from the Assessors that the value was 24 
reduced, but he did not feel it was reduced enough.  25 

Mr. Peirce confirmed that the Real Estate brokers did not have this updated information, 26 
and Mr. Tremblay confirmed that they were unaware.  27 

Ms. Fortier asked if Mr. Tremblay went back to the brokers with the updated lot size for 28 
an adjustment, and he replied that he did not.  29 



2 
 

Mr. Tremblay commented on the neighbor’s huge house newly built that decreases the 30 
value of his property because it overlooks his property and results in little privacy. 31 

Mr. Rindler asked Mr. Tremblay if he knew the height of this house in terms of the 32 
second floor overlooking his property.  33 

Mr. Tremblay did not have exact measurements but gave the Board an estimate of the 34 
height. He commented that it doesn’t block the sun.  35 

Mr. Rindler asked for more description on how it has affected his property. 36 

Mr. Tremblay discussed the angles of the property on the site in relation to his property. 37 
He clarified there is no shrubbery between the properties due to the right of way for 38 
water access. Discussion continued on the neighbor’s house, the sight lines, and the 39 
effects of the construction on Mr. Tremblay. He commented on the “monstrous” houses 40 
lack of fitting in with the character of the neighborhood. 41 

Mr. Peirce asked the Assessors if they used a criterion for their assessments in relation 42 
to the properties next to the applicant. Paul McKenney replied they did not, and 43 
explained the three criteria used when adjusting the land: the neighborhood, the site 44 
index, and the condition factor. He further clarified that the neighbor’s property was a 45 
subjective factor that may or may not affect the value of the applicant’s property.  46 

Mr. Tremblay commented that there were no covenants or restrictions on the properties 47 
that limit the buildings orientation on the lots that he was aware of. 48 

Mr. Peirce asked questions regarding the liability versus the asset of the property, since 49 
Mr. Tremblay reports that the house is an actual liability in terms of future development. 50 
It would cost at least $25,000 to tear down in order to rebuild. However, the property 51 
generates a rental income which is an asset. Mr. Peirce asked the Assessors if they 52 
take a negative value as a factor. Mr. McKenney replied that they can only assess what 53 
is on the property as of April 1, not what may happen, such as a tear down.  54 

Mr. Tremblay commented on the structure of the house, with the quality of the 55 
construction due to the age. Discussion continued on the repairs done and the 56 
improvements needed to keep the house intact.  57 

Chair Afienko commented on the differences of a market analysis and an appraisal.  58 

Chair Afienko asked the Assessors to proceed with their presentation as there were no 59 
more questions of Mr. Tremblay. 60 

Paul McKenny reviewed the timeline of the property to the Board, and mentioned the 61 
town-wide revaluation. Mr. Tremblay received an adjustment at the informal hearing, 62 
and another adjustment for his abatement. Mr. McKenney reported that the Assessors 63 
do not feel Mr. Tremblay has met the burden of proof and that there was not sufficient 64 
evidence submitted. Mr. McKenney asked if there were any questions of the Board. 65 



3 
 

Mr. Rindler asked about the physical inspection of the property, and the impression of 66 
the neighboring house and the value of the applicant’s property. 67 

Ms. Fortier directed the Board to review the photos to understand the property. She 68 
reviewed the photos with the views of the neighbor’s house, and remaining photos of 69 
the lot and views of the ocean.  70 

Mr. Tremblay corrected that the ocean view was not affected by the neighbor’s house, 71 
but the privacy was the issue. 72 

Mr. Rindler restated his question, asking the Assessor’s if a neighbor’s property affected 73 
the value of an adjoining property. Mr. McKenney said that it can, but it is hard to prove 74 
that with comparable sale data.  75 

Mr. Rindler followed up with lot size questions, and the Tower Road comparables. He 76 
asked if there is a value of privacy in appraising. Ms. Fortier replied it is a value of 77 
opinion, and that the oceanfront factor is the value in the market. Discussion continued 78 
regarding the comparables and the values of the lot size and privacy, noting that the 79 
comparables have larger lots than the applicant. Mr. McKenney replied that an 80 
adjustment was made in the condition factor for the applicant. This adjustment was 81 
reviewed.  82 

Mr. Rindler and Mr. Peirce asked again about the issue of privacy, and Mr. McKenney 83 
replied that it is a hard factor to adjust for due to the market. Building restrictions were 84 
discussed for the lot.  85 

Mr. Peirce asked if the Town has any control over the orientation of a new home, and 86 
Mr. McKenney replied that his opinion is that the Town would only oversee the setbacks 87 
for the lot but not orientation. Ms. Collins agreed since the neighbor’s home was able to 88 
orient differently than the replaced building. Mr. Peirce asked Mr. Trembaly if the lack of 89 
privacy was taken into account during the abatement and he replied no.  Mr. Tremblay 90 
continued to discuss the lack of privacy due to the neighbor’s house.  91 

Ms. Fortier continued the Assessors’ presentations, stating that the backyard and lawn 92 
was noted as exceptional. The lawn was described as level and exceptional. Ms. Fortier 93 
reviewed the comparable properties and explained the reasoning for including them in 94 
their analysis. The comparables that included homes that were torn down and rebuilt 95 
were included to show the value of the land. Other comparables included waterfront 96 
properties with homes on them. These comparables show that their assessment is in 97 
line with the market value.  98 

Mr. Rindler asked a question regarding the Pocahontas comp and the time adjustment 99 
factor. Ms. Fortier reviewed the time adjustment since the property sold in 2019. 100 

Mr. Peirce asked Mr. Tremblay about the leaning/unlevel floors in the sunroom. Mr. 101 
Tremblay noted that the house would require extensive work to level the floors. Mr. 102 
Peirce asked if the Assessors were informed of this and he was not sure. Roof sagging 103 



4 
 

was also discussed by Mr. Peirce and Mr. Tremblay. Ms. Fortier commented that she 104 
did note some settling when she toured the property that is common of homes of that 105 
age. The condition of the property was discussed in terms of assessing.  106 

Chair Afienko asked if there were any other questions. There being none, the Board 107 
closed the public hearing. 108 

3. Deliberation 109 

Mr. Peirce discussed that the Board has rules for what an applicant needs to do to 110 
overturn an assessment. He explained that on the application it is suggested that an 111 
outside appraisal with comparables is done, and that he has not done that. He has 112 
provided opinions of value, but has not provided enough evidence. Mr. Peirce 113 
sympathized with the situation since he bought the property a long time ago and the 114 
taxes have increased since then. The right of way between the properties was briefly 115 
discussed. Mr. Peirce does not feel a reduction is warranted unless the view and 116 
privacy factor is not accounted for in the re-assessment and figured.  117 

Mr. Rindler addressed the question of the neighbor’s property affecting the value of the 118 
applicants as a true and present issue. He disagreed with the Assessor’s conclusion 119 
that no evidence was given, and feels that the neighbor’s new home could be a factor 120 
and that the testimony of Mr. Tremblay is evidence as well as the photographs. Mr. 121 
Rindler discussed the comparables and the lack of them addressing the issue of 122 
privacy. He recommends that a further abatement of $100,000 be given. 123 

Mr. Peirce asked about the rental income he receives, and that it mitigates the issue 124 
since the tenants tolerate the lack of privacy. Mr. Tremblay replied he has not raised the 125 
rent amount since they are repeat tenants but he may see an adjustment from the short-126 
term renters this summer. Mr. Peirce remarked that if they made the adjustment due to 127 
the neighbor’s house, they would have to make that adjustment for everyone because 128 
of the potential of “McMansions” anywhere. 129 

Mr. Afienko expressed that he feels the assessment is accurate. There was a large 130 
difference in the types of properties in the comparables, but not a large difference in the 131 
assessment, showing the accuracy of the assessment.  132 

Mr. Peirce asked the Assessors what they thought of another $100,000 adjustment. Mr. 133 
McKenney replied that if there had been an appraisal done, and the assessment is 134 
within 10% of that appraisal, then the assessment is correct. Since there was no 135 
appraisal done, they cannot determine if the $100,000 adjustment is valid. 136 

Ms. Collins reviewed that if the applicant has proven there has been overvaluation, then 137 
they must also find evidence in the record of what the right value would be. It is on the 138 
appellant to show what the right value should be.  139 

Mr. Afienko concluded that based on the evidence it has not been proven that the 140 
assessment is wrong. He explained that Mr. Tremblay could appeal to the Superior 141 



5 
 

Court within 60 days of this hearing. Mr. Afienko reviewed with Mr. Tremblay the 142 
usefulness of an appraisal, and whether it is considered an opinion or evidence.  143 

Mr. Tremblay confirmed for Ms. Collins that the taxes were paid for the property. 144 

The Board took a recess at 7:12 PM, and reconvened at 7:20 PM.  145 

Ms. Collins read the findings of fact and the Board discussed and voted for each one as 146 
follows: 147 

1.  This appeal was timely filed and the appellant testified that the taxes have been 148 
paid for the tax year. The appellant has not presented any comparables by which to 149 
prove that the assessment is not in line with market value or to dispute the validity of 150 
the comparables presented by the Assessor. 3-0 151 

2. It is possible here that the neighboring home and resulting lack of privacy 152 
negatively impacts the value. The photograph provided by Ms. Fortier is evidence of 153 
this effect. The Assessors presented comparables which all have larger lots do not 154 
address the issue of lack of privacy. However, the appellant did not present 155 
evidence demonstrating true market effect of lack of privacy. 2-1 156 

3. The Assessor has presented a range of comparables in the vicinity and there is no 157 
demonstrated reason to believe that the adjustments made for difference in date of 158 
sale, quality or size of lot, or quality or size of building are not reasonable. 2-1 159 

4. The Assessor did grant a reduction in assessed valuation of $69,300 to account 160 
for limitation in utility based on the smaller lot size. The Assessor notes that the level 161 
nature of the backyard going toward the water positively affects the value of the lot. 162 
3-0 163 

5. The comparative market analyses presented by the appellant which were 164 
performed around August 2020 suggest a list price of $900,000 to $1,200,000. 165 
These suggested prices are within close range of and not substantially lower than 166 
the assessed valuation. 3-0 167 

6. Because the appellant has not met his burden to present credible evidence to 168 
prove that the assessed value of the property is manifestly wrong, the appeal is 169 
hereby denied. 2-1 170 

Ms. Collins corrected the record to state that the appellant could appeal this Board’s 171 
decision to the State of Maine Property Tax Review Board since the property is valued 172 
at over $1,000,000. He would have 60 days from the decision of the hearing, and would 173 
be able to present new evidence to the State. 174 

Mr. Afienko moved to approve the findings of fact as written, and deny the appeal. Mr. 175 
Peirce seconded. The motion passed 2-1. 176 

Mr. Peirce moved to authorize the Chair to sign a written notice of decision and findings. 177 
Seconded by Mr. Rindler. The motion passed 3-0. 178 



6 
 

Mr. Afienko moved to adjourn the hearing 7:32 P.M., seconded by Mr. Rindler. The 179 
motion passed 3-0. 180 

4. Other Business 181 

Approval of Minutes- May 5, 2021 182 

Chair Afienko moved to approve the minutes as written. Seconded by Mr. Rindler. 183 
Motion passed 3-0. 184 

5. Adjournment 185 

Mr. Rindler moved to adjourn the meeting at 7:34 PM.  186 

 

Submitted by Carrie Varao on June 28, 2021. 

Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. 
Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the 
minutes are not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a 
summary of the discussion and actions that took place. For complete details, please 
refer to the video of the meeting on the Town of Kittery website. 


	7.28.2021 BOAR Agenda.pdf
	Town of Kittery, Maine
	Meeting Agenda
	2. ROLL CALL
	3. PUBLIC HEARING:
	4. OTHER BUSINESS: Approval of Minutes: June 23, 2021
	5. ADJOURNMENT


	Memo re Tax Abatement Tests (P1910109x9F873).pdf
	Shafmaster Meeting Materials.pdf
	BOAR APP 284 US RT 1.pdf
	tax valuations cap rates.pdf

	Assessors Response Packet Shafmaster.pdf
	0-Cover Sheet Abatement Appeal - Shafmaster (1).pdf
	1-TABLE OF CONTENTS - Shafmaster.pdf
	2-Shafmaster Board of Assessment Review 3-1-2.pdf
	3-Dev of Values and Valuation Procedures - 2020 Reval Manual.pdf
	4-12-Final Revaluation Summary.pdf
	5-2020 ABATED PRC SHAFMASTER 31-6.pdf
	6-Paul McKenny's Resume.pdf
	7-Edward Tinker Resume 06022021.pdf
	Professional Experience e
	• Residential/Commercial Contract Assessor for multiple communities including Hampton, Rye, Exeter, and Newington.
	• Worked on multiple revaluations including Exeter 2019, Newmarket 2019, Hampton 2019, Durham 2019, Epping 2020, Fremont 2020, Jaffrey 2020, Dunbarton 2020, Windham 2020 & Kittery, Me. 2020.
	• Extensive Work with Vision CAMA System
	• Since taking over this position I have reorganized the assessing department
	• With the assistance of staff we completed an in-house revaluation in 2009.

	Education
	Designations


	Simon Meeting Material 7.28.2021 red..pdf
	BOAR APP KITTERY OUTLETS.pdf
	Exhibit 1 Redacted[13466144v1].PDF
	Taxpayer's Exhibits 2 thorugh 6.PDF

	Assessors Response Packet Simon.pdf
	0-Cover Sheet Abatement Appeal - Simon Properties.pdf
	1- Table of Contents- Simon Properites.pdf
	2-Simon Properties Board of Assessment Review 3.pdf
	3-Dev of Values and Valuation Procedures - 2020 Reval Manual (1).pdf
	4-12-Final Revaluation Summary (1).pdf
	5-2020 PRC 375 US Route 1 Map 47 Lot 4.pdf
	6-2020 PRC 318 US Route 1 Map 38 Lot 13A.pdf
	7-2020 PRC 294 US Route 1 Map 38 Lot 14.pdf
	8-2020 PRC 345 US Route 1 Map 47 Lot 1.pdf
	9-2020 PRC 325 US Route 1 Map 38 Lot 7.pdf
	10-Paul McKenny's Resume.pdf
	7-Edward Tinker Resume 06022021.pdf
	Professional Experience e
	• Residential/Commercial Contract Assessor for multiple communities including Hampton, Rye, Exeter, and Newington.
	• Worked on multiple revaluations including Exeter 2019, Newmarket 2019, Hampton 2019, Durham 2019, Epping 2020, Fremont 2020, Jaffrey 2020, Dunbarton 2020, Windham 2020 & Kittery, Me. 2020.
	• Extensive Work with Vision CAMA System
	• Since taking over this position I have reorganized the assessing department
	• With the assistance of staff we completed an in-house revaluation in 2009.

	Education
	Designations


	JUNE 2021 MINS.pdf

